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Alien Internment Camp
Crystal City, Texac
/\29}( Zs . 1946

HON. TOM CLARK,

Attorney General of the United States,
Depaftment of Justice Builéing,

Washington, D.C.

Dear Mr. Attorney Genersl

Without waiving any of my constituhional and legal rights asserted
by me in actions Nos. 25294 ‘to 25267, inc.vs.ve, now pending in the U. S.
District Court for the Northern Disirict of Jalifornia, ai San 1‘ranciz—:co,
california; and without this reguest in aayw.ise operating as a bar to said
or any actions or as a waiver thereof, I hereby request that the mitigation
hearing or examination heretofore given me at the M&__E;_ AL LD
to show cause why I shouvld not be denorted to Japan by yvou be rc—onened for
the introduction of further evidence cr tnat a re-examination or new: exami-
nation be given me thereon for the following reasons and upon the following
grounds:

o was not allowed to be represented at said mitigation heating
by counsel of my own choosing or by any cotnsel whatever;

2. 1 was given neither the time nor the opportunity to obtain
witnesses to appear at said hearing and to testify on my behalf}

i
3. I was not given time or the opportunity to obtain evidence on
my behalf or to submit the same to the hearing officer at said hearing and
I was not allowed to subpoena witnesses to ayvpear and testify,on my behalf
but was arbitrarily summoned to said hearing or examination w;thout ahy
reasonable period of time or any tine whatever having been allowed me to
prepare for the same;

4. The hearing officer's recommendation made at said exanina-
tion and the refusal to release me from detention and to restore me to
civilian life in this country was based either in whole or in part upon
secret data kept in dossiers and files in the possession of the hearing
officer and authorities which was not made known to me or exhibited to me
but was kept secret from ne;

5. The said examination or hearing was arbitrary, unreasonable
and cppressive in its brevity, in the manner in which it was conducted. and
in the circumstances under which it was held;

6. The said examination was not under oath and no witnesses
were sworn, and no witnesses appeared and testified against me;

7. The sald examination was neither full, complete nor ade-
quate and was neither fair nor impartial' I was given neither the
time nor the opportunity to ancwer any unjust charges that may have been
brought against me or unjust suspicions that nay have been entertained
against me and, in fact, there neither then nor now exists nor was there
introduced at said hearing uny competent evidence whatever upon which
an unfavorable reconmendation ought to have been made against me or

upon which a refusal to release me from detention properly and legally
could be based.

For the foregoing reasons and grounds I request that the said
examination or hearing be re-opened for the introduction of additional
evidence or that a re~hearing or new hearing or examination be given me.

Very truly yours,

DETAINED ALigw | 4(.3 L~/

ENEHY MAIL

EXAMINED /44/5/\/ INTERN 9T @v]ﬂ
Wl Cousrme Gy




TDUARD J. ENNIS
Director
DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE
Alien Enemy Control Unit
Washington (25 )

May 14, 1946

Mr. Masatsuji Ide
Alien Detention Station
Crystal City, Texas

Dear Mr. Ide:

I have your recent letter requesting permission to remain in
the United States.

I regret to inform you that your request cannot be complied
with. Upon the submission of the recommendation of the Hearing
Officer and after a careful examination of the file in your case,
the Attorney General made a finding that you had adhered to the
Japanese Government and its principles and by an order dated

April 16, 1946 directed your removal to Japan. In reaching this
decision careful consideration was given to your femily situation.
In view of this final action by the Attorney General it will not
be possible to reconsider your case and you will have to depart

from the United States in due course in accordance with the removal
order.

Sincerely yours,

Thomas M« Cooley, II
Director, Alien Enemy Control Unit




DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE
WASHINGTON, D. C.

«

NOTICE OF APPROVAL OF RENUNCIATION OF UNITED STATES NATIONALITY

To: Masateuji Ide
(born Dec, 25, 1912, Alemo, California)
T417=F
Tule Leke Center
\ Newell, Californie

You are hereby notified that, pursuant to Section 401(i) of the

Nationality Act of 1940, as Amended, and the regulations issued

pursuant thereto, your renunciation of United States nationality
has been approved by the Attorney General as not contrary to the
interests of national defense. Accordingly you are no longer a

citizen of the United States of America nor are you entitled to

any of the rights and privileges of such citizenship.

May 16, 1945

S R

Herbert Wechsler
-Assistant Attorney General
"War Division
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& DILBCTOR REPLY TO:
o el oo 0C
l‘:L-EZI"IL&I

C}J Department of Justice
ElienkE Eneny Control Unit
Washington

June 19, I94¢

ir,. Masatuji Ide),
2 U3 S ¥
Q= dmde Ly
Alien Detention Station,
Crystal City Texas.

1

Lear lMr. Ide;
' AV <4 3 ~ (Y S
Your recent letter to the Attoney General requesting per-
»mission to remain the United States, has been referred to this
office for reply.

I regret inform you that your request cannot be complied
with, After a careful coneiderration of all the facts in your
case the Attorney @eneral made a finding that you had adhered to
the Japanese Government and it's Principles, and by an order
dated April 16, I94€ directed your removal to Japan pursuant to
the Presidential Proclamation af July I4, 1945, In reaching this
decision, careful consideration was given to your family situation.
In view of this final acticn by the Attorney General, it will not
be possible to reconsider yourvwgase.and youdwilithave to depart
from the United States in due course, ir accordance with th
removal order.

oincerely,

Thomas M. Cooley, Il
irector, Alien Eneny Coutrol Unit

i
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Glassel Street
Los eles, 268, California
July 30th, 1948

Hon. Thomas M. Cooley II Jr.

Director, Alien Control Unit

Department of Justice

Washington D.C. Re: Masatsuji Ide
Q=43-B~
Box 788
Crystal City, Texas

Hon, 8ir:

May I submit my appeal for the release hearing of Mr., Masatsuji

Ide, who ie now detained in Orystal City, Texas, I have known

¥r. Ide for more than twelve years, as co-workers in the kibel
division of the Japanese American Citizens League.

About twelve years ago, Mr. Ige joined the kibei division of the
Los Angeles chapter of the Japanese American Citizens League

ag one of the originator ¢f the division. At the time he held
an important cabimet post.

The purpose of the organization was to carry on an extensive
drive of educating the people of Japanese ancesiry on American-
zation. I was the chairman of the organization at the time,

1 swear that throughout the time that I have known MNr. Ige
he was a good leader, well liked by all. Buring my adminis-
tration, we carried on campaign such as expatriati from the
Japanese citizenship statue 1in order to clear the dual eiti-
zenship controversy. I remember that Mr. Ide was one of the
first to expatriate his Japanese citizenship which was a
strong indication of his loyalty and his convietion

I have no doubt in my mind that he was sincere and eager %o
work with the organization in our program of re-educating the
younger generation to the American way of 1ife,

I also sincercly believe that had he not been in Tule Lake
B.gregatlon Center, he would not have wavered nor have been
forced out of his belief and his conviction that we all worked
for in the organization. It is a sad condition when one's
very life was threatened to change his belief.

In the name of humanity, I plead for his family that he be
given another chance to prove hie worthiness of true American
citizenship. :

I beseech that you recomsider his case and let him join his
family , wife and two children, in Stockton, California.

Mpst sincerely yours,

g%i%rﬁin’ﬁ?’?%& {ggggr%lvilion

Japanese American Citizen League




Thomas M. Cooley, II

‘

5 REPLY TO:

DIRECTOR 146_54_ 141
: : MEM
Pepartment of Justice

Flien Enemp Control Unit
Washington

July 31, 1946

Mr, Masatsuji Ide
Q~43-B-1

P, O, Box 788
Crystal City, Texas

_ Re: Yourself
Dear Mr, Ide:

Receipt is acknowledged of your letter of July 22, 1946,
requesting further consideration of the case of the above-named
person. s

Your letter will be given further consideration if and
when the cases of the renunciants who have been ordered removed
from the United States are further reviewed.

You are advised, however, that the determination by the
Attorney General of removal in this case is final until certain
law suits on this question now pending in the courts are decided.
It is expected that several months will elapse before determination
is reached in these cases. Meanwhile, it is not contemplated that
any person under removal order will be forcibly removed from the

United States.

Veri/fFaly yours,
.“//

e Gl

Thomas M. Cooley, II
Director, Alien Enemy Control Unit.




(:iglgi;i"' | A=PeFeleDepeVal=T

State of California)
t S8 Re:t MNasatsuji Ide

County of Los Angeles )

FRED M. YASUKOCEI, being first duly sworn deposes
and saysi

That 1 am a friend of Masatsuji lde, who is now
detained in Crystal City, Texas; that I am a citizen of the
United States of America by reason of birth and that 1 was
born in the State of California, County of Orange, City of
Garden Grove, on March O, 1920, and have known him and had
dealings with him for the past decade until my date of ine
duetion into the Army on December 31, 1941, Honorably dise
charged from the Army of the United 3tates, December 9, 1940,

I have known lire Masatsuji Ide for the met sixe
teen years and have never at any time observed anything which
would have caused me to doubt his integrity. In view of
these past years' association with Masatsuji lde, I have
witnesced his work with the Japanese Citizen League, which
purpose wae to further the Americanization of Young Men,
and also, he was employed by ny family for many years and
have found him to be very reliable, efficient, honest, and

a responaible persone I firmly believe that he is entitled
to be releaced to join his wife and two small children for
the eake of their happy futures I am confident that if he
is roleaced he will be as honest , loyal and law abiding.

\

cochi
California
Subseribed and Sworn to before me )

this 20th  day of July, 1946 )

Z

~

Totary PuBIioé}g?ﬁna for the County
ofiogs Angeles <~ ., State of California

My Commission Expires Jan. 16, 1950
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HENDRICK PIANO CO. ...

DISTRIBUTORS OF OFFICE AND SHOW ROOMS
MT. DIABLO BOULEVARD
WALNUT CREEK, CALIF,

L ——
E,
LESTER GRAND PIANOS S" BETSY ROSS SPINETS WALNUT CREEK 2100

5 September 1946

Mr. Harry MasatsuJji Ide
Q-43-B-1

Box 788

Crystal City, Texas

Dear Harry:

Since receipt of your last letter, I have for-
warded to Hon. Thomas N, Cooley II a letter in your behalf,
a copy enclosed, In addition to the letter, I have taken
up your matter with a friend who is familiar with such
procedings in the Justice Department,

I sincerely hope these attempts on my part will
ald materially in obtaining for you a chance to rejoin your
family in Stockton and establish yourself again as a loyal
citizen,

With the kindest personal regards, I remain

veji9zzzé%,y;:Z;;caaf%>c;;//y//ﬂ
C. F. HENDRICK ///‘;/,
CFH/tb

J;&/W %WWV@/M
6@4;1%;yézoo/ﬁ/,4%;6%7/é23::;302%;_ZZ££4~C//éer —/);:ij2:¢¢4c<$

o

I DEYAINED
!
{ ENLIAY Ma,

FXAM |

.'.\26 'lb
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Don, Thomes M, Conley, 1T
Mrector, Allen Enery Control Unit
Penaprtment of Juatice
lmahington, D. C, \
‘ Net Enrr@ Hagateu ji Ide
it 3Bl
Bnx 788
Crystrl City, Texas

Daar DAre

I hersby submit my requeat for your reconsideration
in th»2 e~se of the renunclisnt necmed -above, &

/ . PN
- ' Fonr yrara prior to his evoeuation, Nr, Ide was in
my employ ns e gerdner at my residence hers in Yalnut Creek,
Gelifornie, Hls work and aerviee rendsped in my behelf
were alweys mnat satlafectory, A

To th» beat of my knowledge snd bellef, Mr, Jde
wng plwaya a man of hiph integrity esnd of excellent character,
From my sszociatlon wAth bim I never obacrved eny d1sloyal
intentlons in him, WNever gid I infer from telking with him
tha alighteat impllicetion 6f antieAmerlicen regolve on his
poart, : ;

I dn helieya lip, Ida'g reaolution, now past, renounce
Ing hia li,. 9 Cltizenehip, wea made by hin aftep submitting
tn asvere pressurs of enemy eronns at the Tule Lnks Center,
eh en et on hig part wng done aa o veln attemnt to grfee
punrd the 1lv~g of hig mothar ond algters in Jepen, ;

Todsy lr, Ide's wife and two Asnghters, £1l Americen
Citizona in vood stendine, ecre 1ivine in S%ockton, Crlifornie,
opnrt from huabsand and father under e~ nditions of herdship,
iseonnlderstion of hin case would eertrinly alleviete this
recrebtable eondition, ; :

Very truly yours,

A\

C. F, HENDRICK

\

CFH/%h
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é&%ﬁlﬂ j” , 1947

HONORABLE TOM CLARK,

Attorney General of the United States,
Department of Justice Building,
Washington, D. C.

Dear Sir:

On or about ﬁ?@ﬂﬁbﬁuaft s 19457, I signed an application for renunci~
ation of U. S. Nationality at thé Tule Lake Center, Newell, Modoc County, California.

I hereby repudiate, withdraw, retract and revoke the said renunciation
upon the following grounds and for the following reasons:

(1) The circumstances under which said renunciation form was signed by
me did not constitute a fair and impartial hearing and was a denial of my consti-
tutional guaranty of due process of law and of the equal protection of the laws;

(2) I was not a free agent at the time when and the place where said
renunciation form was signed but then and there was held in duress and was the vic-
tim of fraud, menace, undue influence and mistake of fact and law;

(3) I then and there was and for a period of time prior thereto had been
detained in said Tule Lake Center by official authority and was deprived of sub-
stantially all my constitutional rights, liberties, privileges and immunities as an
American citizen and was treated as though I were an alien enemy and thus was dis-
criminated against sclely by reason of the Japanese nationzlity of my ancestors;

(4) I was intimidated, coerced and compelled to sign said renunciation
form by reason of the duress in which I was held by the government and the duress,
fraud, menace and undue influence of groups and individuals within said Center,
against which the government failed to protect me.

Because of the foregoing reasons the said renunciation was fictitious
and is invalid and void.

I am not a citizen or subject of Japan and I do not and never have owed
or given that country or nation any allegiance. I am not an alien enemy. I am a
native American by birth and by choice. I have no dual citizenship through any act

or acceptance upon my individual part.

I demand that you withdraw and set aside the said renunciation form, and
the approval thereof if any approval thereof was given.

I am ready and willing to have this matter re-opened and a hearing be
granted me in order to prove the said renunciation application was executed under
the circumstances above-mentioned when I was not a free agent in any sense of the
word but was acting under duress, menace, fraud, undue influence and misteke of

fact and law,

I respectfully request your immediate consideration of this urgent
matter,

Very truly yours,

’ Maclen,

c/ae[a/'%%,a/%/. Sl (it i
.lca,uu\uo‘-&b (Name)

O Maress: /034 Mowren] U
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November 3,

My. Masatsuli Ide,
116 E. Church Street,
Stockton, California.

Dear Mr. Ide:

In reply to your letter of September 10th,
I suggest that you keep your Japanese citizen-
ship renunciation paper and the affidavit for
future reference. There is no necessity for
you to send them to the Immigration Department
or to me at the present time.

A decision is expeoted socon on the question
whether or not your citizenship is to be restored
and you will be informed of the nature of that
decision.

Very truly yours,




Masatsuji Ide

'dc“tion Centfer. /At the time there had been rumors and

o —

ossn.p in t};g Center /%t made me believem/\-

and Kibei aﬁd ueybe even the Nisei were going to Be deported

to Jap;n/x

gust as soon as the Government could send us there
on the éxchange/ ship. About 90 percent of the residents in

- blgck-Bh where {1 Jived in Rohwer were Issei bachelors. They

talked all the|time saying that if citizens didn't apply

or repatriatidn before being deported that on arrival the

Japanese authorfities would consider us disloyal and the

J.panese Tbough& Control Police or Military Policee would
!

« 1 y

arrest W4 and sdnd us to concentration czmps or put us in

prison or even;z;éat us worse and they said that members of

our families in |[Japan would be reparded with suspicion and
Rohwer

be kept under surveillance. In J vhere 1 MR was many

of the residents received letters from residents held in

the “amps at Poston and stﬁ ng that if anyone applied
\ dhzdﬁékgf S o fealf
for repatriation he woulu not have to ist¥er and answer the
Army -WRA oues%z e ﬁut th tﬁgéétgaééz 't apply for
, ;Lui 44nc4ﬁp &{ An% % 0o ) 2
‘ i‘ atrlatlon ‘ :

@k, " .' 0

1f we

 be treated very h: ly on arv‘jﬁl in Jap=n ﬁmmmhllil!ll!

answered les to questi 0&3/27 or 284 would oe considered

enEexiksloyniiiesriopsmempiy  to be enemies of Japan

a Yes answer to either of those questions would prove to




C‘. d
the Japanese autiorities {h:=t we were loyal to the U.S. an
L‘ ~
el My
be, tregted a2s ene 1e5e My

i f Japan and we Woulgd be . T < -
vifo A S e Rt gt % Aok s 5 18 Koo Redhotiegecai ¥ i
EBGMRREES we, e ferrib
Aegdyl

didn't want ?o

but was feqr”u oAt

hofhm Sﬁtions
: 25 o
ks

i answer
dare give Yes answersfand I didn t wantlto refuse to .

like the WRA origin#lly stated
— |

: i because I believed
ARmow iy - pplicd For repatr dﬁlon at Rohwer be S |

i 2 d out
that by so doing I[would be/ kept in cemp and not be force

P | ' - s
and would not be sfparat d from my wife and in case

ol ' ished in Japan.
I wa§Adeportede wopuldy/ 't be punished in P

e
while @R I was in the Aliep
Mexico.,

3. What were your ressons for applying for repatriation to
Japan on March 14, 19457

P
e Sokuji Kikoku Hoshi-Dan
believe in all of its
ght of as a traitor or "{pyn
Camp, and I was one of the mem-
Therefore,

depghtation to Japan.

Records of
o~Japa

fiése groups in camp,

Saburo Bingor peatedly stated that anyone gﬁg;ﬁg;s not aga%@
for repatriation awfrenounce his citizenship may e the ship
~da@aa but will never reach Japan, KHe

meant what he said,
and I am afraid it could have happened if the war did net end in
unconditional Surrender of Japan,




Immediately after the start of war I declared to Mrs. DeGolia who
,lives at Boyer Circle, Lafayette, "I am willing to die under the
flag I was born." When interrogated also by Mrs. McGregor (who

lived at Contra Costa Country Club, and for whom I was gardening)
for which country I would fight, I replied emphatically, "I will

fight for America." However, as previously stated, I was denied
the opportunity to fight and instead shipped to the marshlands of

Arkansas.




wedation ¢

L T

def@lifornia,

During my stay at Sandy Fe Concentration Camp I was one of twenty
or twenty-six people whd disagreed with the principles and activi-
ties of the 1500 members Qf the Sokuji Kikeku Hoshi-Dan and Hokoku
Seinen-Dan in the camp. \erefore, 1 was suspiciously watched by
Yamane and his brothers, leN by Shishigd (an Issei), day and night.
One day I wrote a family re o?A equést and at the same time de-~
nounced the Sokuji Kikoku Hos -fégr’Seinen-Dan. While I was work-
ing in the mess hall that part dar application form was stolen

from under my bed, and thereaft#k letters from my wife were stolen.,
ety 7 i) 73N B S By b goigny.

':1:1'5'? 2k

Uil -

oG TIe g AT RERIT T = Gl Cil et ¥t

Y

My wife,was pregnant & iiﬂﬂliﬁf: : ¥ SRR N |
ti::til--i&noy; I workeg/ in the Mess hall so that I could earn

some allowance to send tos/her to buy\a few of her craving foods at

the canteen but my money/order was al¥e stolen. Mr., Nakamura (from a?tfj(
Hawaii) was the head o the post offick, and he was kind enough to 4 fﬁ
make me out another mghey order with hi§ money. He said that it

might take several mgnths of investigatiyn and red tape to clear up

the situation and %6 write up another money order..

I went to cghsult Rev. Kondo from Hawaii whether he felt that
my resigning frofa the Dans was the wrong thing to do. However, he
agreed about my resignation, and so I took my own stand, thereby
being all along at the Santa Fe Camp. I was the only outcast from
the whole conyingent from Tule Lake. My wife was warned by Mrs.
Kuwano (mother-in-law of Ishizaka) for my action.




Masatsuji Ide

% 7. Why did you further st desired to‘contribute
to Japan's post-war industry?

I#) I knew that Japan lost th¢ warsWwhen no harm came to us at

/'Y the end of the war, but I did now to what extent Japan lost.
I believed that I should main a good record to be presented
to the Japanese government by e U.S. government at the time of
deportation. I didn't dare hope that any of us would be permitted
to remain in the U.S. after what Japan did to Pearl Harbor.




Masatsuji Ide

I believed that the two rganizatighs would report all of
my activities to the Japanese governmgAt. 1 wanted to make a
good record to be presented to| the Jghanese
deported so that my family and\ myseXf would
also believed that the U.S. govter
individuals to Japan at the tim

2. Why, in your application of October 1, 1945, did you state
that you had always been loyal to Japan?

At Tule Lake Camp I was on the list to be assaulted and so
\ Was closely watched. At Santa Fe Camp after I seceded from both
| jorganizaticns I was watched by the Yamane brothers, another Yamane
{ Y /’(led by Shishido), and Kobayashi (father-in-law of Tachibana).
R I overheard them talking that I was going to be pushed off fro
\\M/// the ship or I was going to have my neck cut o
ported to the Japanese government., It was a matter of death o
life to me to prove on record my loyalty to Japan. Just prete
was not enough or convincing. I had to prove by evidence (con
crete). Mr. Kondo, who was the head of the repair shop at the
Santa Fe Camp, made me a shakuhachi (a Japanese musical instru
ment similar to a flute) out of a piece of galvanized pipe with
one end bent for easy gripping to avoid slipping. I asked him to
make it for me to protect myself in case of attack. I still have
that instrument in my home. Following is a rough sketech:

Music Instrument

I requested my roommate Masao Hamachi to stand up for me as
a witness to testify that I was not an "inu" (traitor) after de-
portation to Japan. Dr. Furukochi gave me some tranquilizer

medicine to prevent my nervous breakdown from fear and worry. Mr.
Toshio Sakaguchi, another roommate from Hawaii, told me to report

those people spying on me to the Santa Fe authority, but whenever

I thought about the deportation and the consequences I just could

not go through with his advice.

6. Why did you also state in your application of October &y
1945, that you earnestly desired to be repatriated as early as
possible?

Same reason as given in the previous question. When my camp L//
records were sent by the U.5., Government with me to Japan, they
would counteract the reports sent in by the Dans, and consequently
my family and I would be safe from harm. We would either be killed
or starved to death if Japan had won the war. :

As soon as I entered Assembly Center the fact that I was an
originator member of the Kibei Japanese American Citizens League,
had renounced my Japanese citizenship, had denounced dual citizen-
ship, and had tried to Americanize the Kibeis caused me great
anxiety. One day the Assistant Consul General Fukushima of Los

. Angeles came to our JACL meeting. Akira Itami (translator at the
War Criminals Trial in Japan) informed me that the purpose of his
visit was to inspect our ideas and loyalty. Being so sure of being
sent to Japan all I could think of was safety for my family and my-
self.




7(A) cgﬁt{?ued:

sisters and\tﬁeir children who were in Japan would receive
harsh treatme

answers, Also I heard that anyone givi

both, But there were letters

I answered No-No.

7(B): Yes

About March, 1943,--a few days after I arrived at
Santa Fe Internment Camp, I found out my big mistake of
not being honest to myself., Away from Tule Lake I found
out that the condition of physical force that ruled Tule

Lake was not the life of any human being.
7(8): No

8(A): Copy affidavit,




9(B):
I said and did everything I could to renounce my

citizenship at this time because if I failed to renounce, I
was very sure that my life would be in great danger, as well
as my family and family in Japan. After the Kurihara incident
I never went out after dark, and whenever I had to go out,

I placed a toyel or cushion material under my hat to

protect myself of an attack.

9(C):
I was fearful when trouble started in Tule Lake

(killings and attacks, and especially after my next door

neighbor Mr. Kurihara's incident--June 27, 1944, 8(b) and

9(A). I remember I even brushed my teeth and washed up in
my apt. (There were no water facilities in apts.) Almost

every night someone turned off all outside barrack lights




9(C) continued:
around my apt. in preparation for attacking me. When I

went to Santa Fe camp I had the same trouble as I have

explained in 8(D). At Santa Fe camp I was told by Sabuzo

Bingo that I was really in danger at Tule Lake, that
4522ﬁg$%%?attac e o y because my brother had warned his
dan neighbor that the FBI questioned him concerning the
Kurihara 1nc1dent and that he told them I didn't know who
was responsible for attack on Mr. Kurihara and(ggat I told
the agents I didn't know who did it,--thereby 1lifting their

suspicions about us brothers.

9(E): |
I wanted to be sure that we were safe from any post
ﬁﬁﬁgﬁfar ortur and dangers. After receiving letter from my
repatriated , Japan, I found out the righteousness
and justice of the U.S. Gov't . I had expected deportation
when U.S. won the war, but instead I was given better food,
clothing, and treated by camp authoritiles with great kind-
ness. Every repatriate was given the opportunity of
remaining in America, even when on the train ready to leave
for the repatriation ship for Japan., We (of the laundry dept
in New Mex. camp) even prepared extra blankets for the

repatriates to take with them to Japan.

9(F):

I am one of the thirteen who originated the Kibei
American Citizens League in Los Angeles to become real
Americans ;n our ideal and ways of life., We are the ones
who persuaded members to renounce their Japanese citizenship.
We had to fight certain anti-feeling toward our organization

at that time. At the same time I renounced my Japanese




9(F) continued:

citizenship, which gave me fear all throughout the camp life until
the defeat of Japan--the end of militarism and the dark age--that
I would be mistreated for being anti-Japan or pro-American. Once
that I was placed in camp, I was always conscious of what people
said and thought, especially in regards to postwar treatment.

It was impossible to think normally or clearly as I used to

before being placed in camps, because of rumors and opinions I was

exposed to every day (my block 39, Rohwer, Arkansas, consisted of

90% 1st Generation people from the old country).

11(4d):
After my release I reported to my Draft Board in
Martinez but was not reclassified or inducted as I was over age

limit,




i
sk
27% x7/7‘/‘” /Y 2.

g ) ftae Jty (Do
ot T &

%wﬁm

Hor %
%’ﬂ /déj“ éylw

7/ \7
V

i o

%/bé o 0 74 A i//; 2
e

. et E

) )/




S

L i2s) % ke 255
9L e PP s e XK o

M/m)‘/// a2
e R




Masatsuji Ide

constitution comparable to the U.S. Constitution, and there never
will be. TheU.S. Constitution represents the wordse“of God. I
have studied a Rew of the books of famous Westeps philosophers,
and I have not agreed at anytime with force,.of militarism and
conquest of other nations by force. I hgw€ no intention of
criticizing the U.S. Geyernment but the“evacuation of American
citizens without a hedrins. when ther€ was ample time to do so was
not justified. The U.S. goVernmefit should have followed the
constitution word by word as ¥e Administration of President
Eisenhower is doing today..~1f she had, I don't think such a thing
as an evacuation of Amep#Ctan citizéws into concentration camps at
the point of a bayones”would have taRen plaece. Neither would such
a law as permitting“one to renounce hi3\ only citizenship have been
passed. President Roosevelt was opposedi\to the evacuation of
American citiaéns. I have four children thgday, and I am proud to
say they ape 100% Americans.. I regret very Wuch to say that the
struggle th communism will not end without a™jar with Russia.

I am_r6ady and willing to do my duty as an AmeriCsg citizen when
the<time comes. I should and would be grateful to Pe given one
more chance to regain my American citizenship. :

/s/ Masatsuji Ide

Masatsuji lde

Submitted and sworn to before me
this 33 day of _qctober , 1958,

/s/ Toshiko Unno

Notary Pubiic in and for the County
of Alameda, State of California.

(NOTARY SEAL)




13. Why did you state at your renunciation hearing that you
believed the Emperor to be a divine being?

My family is of Catholic belief, and my ancestors have been
also for the past 200 years. As a child I attended the Catholic
Church twice every Sunday. If I did not attend church, 1 was not
permitted to eat my supper. I went to catechism for two years,
and before I came to America I served as an altar boy for two years
every Sunday at the Catholic Church in the City of Kurume. My
catechism teacher told us not to bow our heads to the emperor, his
picture, or in front of a Shinto Shrine because there is only one
Creator, who is God. I never did or do believe that the emperor
is divine, but I had to make such an absurd statement to be con-
vincing when sent to Japan. At the time I was convinced that the
U.S. government would present my record of statements to Japan.

My wife and family, and I would then be safe from the Kempei
(military police) and angry mobs. In face of all the accusations
and suspicions I met with the Akashi and Bingo group, I had to
have some convincing evidence to counteract their report to the
Japanese government concerning me. Disapproval of my renunciation
meant death, slow starvation, or disappearance of my family or my-
self. When I went to request renunciation of my citizenship 1 was
out of my mind from fear,

14 Why did you also state at the above-mentioned hearing
that you believed the Emperor would rule the world?

Although I made such a foolish statement for self-protection,
I did not believe in such a foolish thing. When U.S. started to
advance toward Midway Island I concluded that Japan would be beaten
since she had won the first phase of the war only by using its
main force of Japanese military power against the allies' little
outposts. Because I was so sure of being sent to Japan I felt that
I had to make my record satisfactory to the military government of
Japan in order to combat with the accusations of Akashi and Bingo's
group. 1 genuinely believed this was the only way to save myself. /

i

15. Why did you further state that you would like to return
to Japan as early as possible so you could volunteer for the suicide
squad and "go right into the ships of the U.S. and England™?

When I took my army physical examination I was told by Dr.
Newfeld that I was too nervous to be drafted for front line duty.
He thought that the army would assign me to other duties. There-
fore I knew that I could not be in such a special squad. My main
and only purpose of making such a foolish and impossible declaration
was to get approval of my renunciation, and thereby establish a
record good enough to counteract the accusations made by Akashi
and Bingo's group, as well as to prevent being attacked. When 1
was spied upon by ignorant groups who thought that attacking and
even killing (Mr. Hitomi) was being loyal to Japan, fear caused
me to be out of sound judgment or sanity. I could think of nothing
but safety while in camp and after shipment to Japan. My thinking
went around in vicious circles, and fear of life was always upper-
most in my mind.
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16. On March 5, 1945, what did you do to request approval by the
attorney general of your renunciation?

1 don't think that I did anything special, but 1 requested
because I was under close watch by Tachibana's father-in-law
(Kobayashi), Yamane, and the Yamane brothers. Some of the internees
from Peru were keeping an eye on me also.

17. Why did you request approval by the attorney general of
your renunciation?

As previously mentioned I was one of the organizers of the
Kibei Japanese American Citizens League in Los Angeles who re-
nounced his Japanese citizenship, tried to Americanize Kibeis in
the Los Angeles area, and encouraged them to renounce their Japanese
citizenships as one step closer to being a good American citizen,
One meeting Assistant Consul General Fukushima ecame to our meeting,
and as Mr. Itami told me later, to check our ideals. This was quite
a shock to me, and I always carried this fear of disapproval by the \
Assistant Consul General of my actions from the time of my entry
into the Stockton Assembly Center till the end of the war. I was
always being watched by someone or another ever since entry into
Tule Lake Camp. Hence, failure to obtain approval of my renuncia-
tion meant physical harm to myself or family. If the war did not
end in the unconditional surrender of Japan, I doubt very much
that I would be alive today. I would have been disposed of. All
the answers that I have given you to the foregoing questions seem
almost ridiculous to whoever is examining my report; but once a
person is committed to such a concentration camp he cannot think
logically. His thinking habits are molded into certain ways from
which he cannot escape. Even after the war and after I went to
Crystal City Camp I was thought of as an "inu" (traitor) and there-
fore watched. Mr. Nagao, the Chief Cook, confessed to me that he
thought I was a German police. I was an assistant baker to the
chief baker who was a German internee. One day my mail (request
for release from internment) to the attorney general was stolen
from the post office. The reason why I found this out was that I went
back to see Mr. Miller (postmaster) in order to change my mail to
registered mail., Under such &an environment I was - not my real self.
I was under constant fear of 1life; I had no one to go to for help
or to confide in for ease of mind.

U,S. government had.-four\months time in which to give a

hearing to Wg Niseis (Amesican born citizens) for testinf our
loyalty, if she wanted-to, before they ordered us 46 assembly
centers. Curfey c: in Februar{, 1942, and ere in camps in
June, 1942, If Jwere not sent into camp ould have been in the
U.S. Army. Japan imgde the biggest mi ¢ in the history of any
nation on the day shé.bombed Pearl Hdrbor. The day that Japan lost
the war was the day thawi r s ready to take over Japan_ &

not of tHe U.S. The U.S.\wHd protected Japan from the e

was the country that Japan atgacked. At the same tima.

U.S. won the war ungen v, was the day U.S. tefk over the job
that Japan had gjbﬁhecking Communigm in Asia. HewWwever, militarism
had to end sométime, somewhere. Fabde ab*U.5. which has the
most perfett constitution--freedom o igion, freedom of speech,
freedom of press, and liberty and justige” for all--was given the
Job of leading the world into peace am@ prosperity through Democracy.

There has been no other countryﬂi_ the past which has had a

e




UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE

WASHINGTON, D. C.

AL A
~ Address Reply to the JU N ), ) 13 h B
" Division Indicated
and Refer to Initials and Namber Jle

GCD: 00
146-54~
93-1-13%2

Lloyd H. Burke, Esquire
United States Attorney

422 Post Office Building
Seventh and Mission Streets
San Francisco 1, California

Re: Fsgggg%ig %ﬂg
our ref: o et al v. Rogers o

el Ve Browneddc0te 0y (Consolidated actions -
Civil Nos. 25294 & 25295). Renunciation of
Citizenship, Former Title 8 U.S.C. 801(i).

Dear Mr. Burke:

This is in response to your letter of March 28, 1957,
encloging an affidavit for a determination as to whether the case
of the above-named subject may be considered as coming within the
coverage of the ruling of the Court of Appeals in the case of

.~ Acheson v, Murakami, 176 F.2d, 953, in accordance with a letter
from this Department dated September 21, 1953, to Mr. Wayne M.
Collins.

You are advised that in the event of litigatiom involving an
issue of the validity of the subject renunciation, this Department
would be unable either to stipulate that the affidavit be accepted
as evidence in lieu of testimony, or to concede that said case comes
within the coverage of the above decision. The reasons for the
Department's position in this respect, among others, are:

This subject was born December 235, 1912, in the United States
and resided in Japan from 1913 to 1928. Part of his education was
received in Japan. Pertineat records of the War Relocation Authority
indicate that this subject gave negative snswers to GCuestions 27 and
28 of the - WAA Registration form. He applied for repatriation
on February 13, 1943, March 14, 1945, and October 1, 1945, In this )
last mentioned application subject stated that he had always been /
loyal to Japan and earnestly desired to be repatriated as early as
possible and to contribute to that country's postewar industry.

Thie subject was a member of both the Sokuji Kikoku Hoshi-Dan and
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the Hokoku Seinen-Dan and served as an officer of the former
organization. This subject made early and repeated requests
for permission to remounce his citisemship, He stated at
renunciation hearing that he believed the Hmperor to be a
divine being, he expressed the belief that the Emperor would
rule the world, and stated that he would like to return to Japan
as early as possible sc he could volunteer for the suicide squad
and "go right into the ships of the United States or England."”
This subject requested approval of his renunciation by the At~
torney General on March 5, 1945,

In view of the facts hereinbefore recited, the expressed
reasons for renunciation as stated by subject in his affidavit
are not persuasive and we are of the opimion that his case may

not be considered as coming within the coverage of the decision
in the Murakami case.

In aceordance with our above-referred to letter of Sep-
tenber 21, 1953, we attach the original and two copies of the
affidavit for return to Mr. Collins.

Yours very truly,

GEORGE COCHRAN DOUB
Assistant Attorney General
Civil Divisien

By:
Enoch E, Ellisen
Chief, Japanese Claims Section

Enclosures:
Original and twe
copies of affidavit.




UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE
WASHINGTON, D. C.

Address Reply to the
Division Indicated

MWMIMNMM
14654 Hid
93-1-1320

NOV 21 1958

Robert H. Schnacke, Esquire
United States Attorney

422 Post Office Building
Seventh and Mission Streets
San Francisco 1, California

Has 1de

Your ref: Abo et al v. Rogers et al. Furuya
et al v. Rogers et al. (Consolidated actions -
Civil Nos. 25294 & 25295). Renunciation of
Citizenship, Former Title 8 U.S.C. 801(i).

Re:

Dear Mr. Schnacke:

This is in response to your letter of J¢tober 23, 1958, enclosing
additional affidavit for a determination as to whether the case of the
above-named renunciant may be considered as coming within the coverage of
the ruling of the Court of Appeals in the case of Acheson v. Murakami,
176 F. 24 953, in accordance with a letter from this Department dated
September 21, 1953, to Mr. Wayne M. Collins.

In accordance with your request, we have reexamined the affidavit,
together with the pertinent Governmental files, and . weg&w@& that
we adhere to our views as expressed in our letter of ? L
that this subject's case may not be considered as coming within the
coverage of the decision in the Murakami case.

In accordance with our letter of September 2; 1953, we attach the
original and 2 copies of this subject's affidavit for return to
Mr. Collins.

Yours very truly,

GHORGE COCHRAN DOUB

Assistant Attorney General
Civil Division

By:
Enoch E. Ellison

Chief, Japanese Claims Section
Enclosures

Original and
davit® dated March 18. 1957.
L

orig
copies of additionsl affidavit,dated Oetober 13, 1958,




January 18, 1960

Mr. Masatsuji Ide
3295 Mt., Diablo Blvd.
Lafayette, California

Dear Mr. Ide:

I am returning _herewith the original and e
f the affidavit which I have prepared for
ay questionnaire. I would th
therein and if you fing
msmuauuwmu
il and swear to it. The

If you should make any additions or corrections
in the affidavit, please inform me of the changes in
& letter encl the affidavit and thoge

will be made in the other coples sent to the Justice
Departmen

199

Very truly yours »

Enes,

P.8, It is imperative that you take care of this
important matber lawediately,




January 20, 1960

Mr. Masatsuji Ide

13#2yetie, Gallfornia

Dear Mr. Ide:

I wish té t hank you for your remembrance
at Christmas and also for the dwarf plant you
brought in the other day.

My best wishes to you and your family‘for

the New Year.

Very truly yours,




S Lt
S22 s pel «Q@%
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UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE

WASHINGTON, D. C.

Address Reply to the
Division Indicated

ARE el ond Nombes
146=-5h=141
93=1~1320

Lymn J. Gillard, Esquire
United States Attorney

L22 Post 0ffice Building
Seventh and Mission Streets
San Francisco 1, California

Re: Masa Ide
Your ref: Abo, et al v. Rogers, et al,
Furuya, et al v. Rogers, et al, (Consolidated
actions - Civil Nos. 2529k & 25295). Renunciation
of Citizenship, Former Title 8 U.S.C. 801 (i).

Dear Mr. Gillard:

This is in response to your letter of February 18, 1960, enclosing
an affidavit for a determination as to whether the case of the above-
named renunciant may be considered as coming within the coverage of
the ruling of the Court of Appeals in the case of Acheson v, Murakami,
176 F. 2d, 953, in accordance with a letter from ¢
September 21, 1953, to Mr. Wayne M. Collins.

In accordance with your request, we have reexamined the affidavit,
together with the pertinent Governmental files, and you are advised that
we adhere to our views as expressed in our letters of June 23, 1958 and
November 21, 1958, that this subject's case may not be considered as L
coming within the coverage of the decision in the Murakami case.

In accordance with our letter of September 21, 1953, we attach the
original and two copies of this subject's affidavit for return to
Mr. Collins.

Yours very truly,

GEORGE COCHRAN DOUB
Assistant Attorney General
Civil Division

By:
Special Litigation Counsel
Enclosuress
Original and two copies
of affidavit, dated January 20, 1960.




Mr, Masatsuji Ide
3295 Mt. Diablo Blvd.
lafayette, Calif,

Dear Mr, Ide:

The Justice Department has again denied you
administrative clearance on the most recent affl!-
davit I processed on your behalf,

Unless I am successful in obtaining adminis-
trative clearance for you by negotiation with the
Justice Department, 1t will be necessary for a
court hearing to be had in your case if you wish
to proceed in an endeavor to recover your U,S, citi-
zenship. I shall keep you informed of any progress
made in your case.

Very truly yours,




April 17, 1962

Mr, Masatsuji Ide
3295 Mt, Diablo Blvd.
Lafayette, Calif,

Dear Mr, Ide:

In order to conclude your case without further delay, I
am enclosing herewith an application form which I would thank
you to fill out in pencil as best you can and return to me
in the enclosed envelope.

When you have returned the form to me, I will prepare
an application from the information you supply on the enclosed
form., Thereafter, a petition for your naturalization can be
filed and I believe it will be granted and when that has been
done, I will be able to carry on my final negotiations with
the Justice Department to see if it will grant you administrative
clearance as to your renunciation, If it does, we can drop the
naturalization proceeding but if it refuses, we can proceed
with your petition for naturalization.

I would thank you tc complete the information on the
enclosed form during this week and return the form to me
immediately. If you have any questions concerning the form,
please telephone to my office, but in any event, I would thank
you to fill out the form as best you can and mail it to me by
the end of this week.

Please do not delay in sending me the form because of any
uncertainties you may have about the answers., It is only
necessary that you answer as many questions @s you can and mail
the form back to me immediately.

Very truly yours,




April 27, 1962

Mr, Masatsujli Ide
3295 Mt, Diablo Blvd,
Lafayette, California

Dear Mr, Ide:

In connection with your application for naturalization,
I would like to ask you to answer the following guestions so
that I may complete the filling out of your application,

Regarding Alien Registration Card, show the exact
spelling of your name as 1t appears on your Alien
Rogéstration Receipt Card, and the number of your
oar o

Name:
No:

What is the name of the nursery of which you are the
owner:

What 1s the address of the nursery?

On what date did you first become self-employed as a
nursery owner?

Please show the exact spelling of your name as it appears
on your birth certificate.

(If you do not have a copy of your birth certificate,
please write out your full name given to you at birth
to the best of your recollection).

In connection with your trip to Japan, as a child, in May
of 1913 and your return to the U.S8. on Jan. 26, 1927,
please answer the following questions:

What was the name of the port in the U.8. from which
you departed in May of 19137




Mr. Masatsuji Ide April 27, 1962

What was the name of the vessel on which you traveled
to Japan?

What was the name of the port in the U.S. to which you
returned on Jan, 16, 19277

What was the name of the vessel on which you traveled
when you returned to the U.S. in 19277

What was the name of the port in Japan from which you
departed?

S8ince what date have you lived continuously in the State
of California?

Please send your reply to me as soon as possible so that
I may complete the filling out of your applicaticn,

Very truly yours,




WAYNE M. COLLINS
ATTORNEY AT LAW
MILLS TOWER, 220 BUSH STREET
SAN FRANCISCO 4,CALIFORNIA

GARFIELD I-5827

April 27, 1962

Mr., Masatsuji Ide
3295 Mt, Diablo Blvd.
Lafayette, California

Dear Mr. lde:

In connection with your application for naturalization,
I would like to ask you to answer the following questions so
that I may complete the filling out of your application.

Regarding Alien Registration Card, show the exact
spelling of your name as it appears on your Alien
Registration Receipt Card, and the number of your
eard.

Name: /ASATSUT /) L DE
No: ZJSJIPJ?

What is the name of tgg nursery of which you are the
L&

P
What is the address of the nursery? <295 /77
DrABLo BLYD LAFA yErre, H-E.

On what date did you first become self-employed as a
nursery owner? ABod7 /G5O

Please show the exact spelling of your name as it appears

on your birth certificate. />/4ZSA7 S/ 7 /
LB

TIf you do not have a copy of your birth certificate,
please write out your full name given to you at birth
to the best of your recollection).

owner: 4

In connection with your trip to Japan, as a child, in May
of 1913 and your return to the U.S. on Jan. 26, 1927,
please answer the following questions:

What was the name of the port in the U.S. from which
you departed in May of 19132 SV ACANC/SCO L2

e o




Mr. Masatsuji Ide April 27, 1962

What was the name of the vessel on which you traveled
to Japan?_ Ao 7 CALEAR.

What was the name of the port in the U.S. to which you
returned on Jan.26, 19272 SAN LR LS (CAAML.

What was the name of the vessel on which you traveled
when you returned to the U.,S. in 19272 #2&5 5/@;/7

LN 2As

What was the name of the port in Japan from which you

departed? /L//)/(oé‘/f/&?ﬁz T PO
Since what date have you lived continuously in the State

of California? A7

Please send your reply to me as soon as possible so that
I may complete the filling out of your application.

Very truly yours,
/ ) (:\

/ / // / /',//’::L
/1 gy

WMC
DP:ss
Enc,: Env.
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Cecil F. Pocle, Esquire

United States Attorney

422 Post Office Building
Seventh snd Mission Streéts

San Prancisce, California 94101

176 ¥. 24, 953, umm
Septembar 21, 1953, to Mr. Wayne M.

expressed
November 21, 1958 and March 21, 1960, that this subject's case may not
be considered 2s coming withia the coverage of the decision in the

Murskimi case.

In sccordance with our letter of September 21, 1953, we attach the
original and two copies of this subject's affidavit for retura teo
Mr. Collins.




Mr, Masatsuji Ide
3295 Mt. Diabloc Blvd.,
Lafayette, California

Dear Mr., Ide:

I v.grtt to inform you that on Februar » 1964, the
Department of Justice again refused to gran ygé‘adniaiatratlvc
elearance, In consequence, it still contends that your renuncia-
tion of U.S. eitizenship was & voluntary act on your part and 1t
8till classifies you as an alien, In view of the faet that the
Attorney General (or his agents in the Department of Justice)
refuses to concede that your renunclation was involuntary the
following remedies now are available to you, to-wit:

(1) You now may exercise the right to have a court trial
in the U.8. District Court in San Prancisco in action No.

entitled ggg et a;i, Ve ggggggzt cf al, to have the court deter-
mine whether or not your renunciation of U.8, citizenship made

while you weres inveluntarily detained in a WRA Center concentration

camp simply because of your Japanese ancestry was voluntary or is
void for having been the product of duress and fear. If you elect
to have such a trial you must make arrangements with an attorney at
law of your own choo: and at your own expense to represéent you
at sueh a trial., (The reasson why I mention this is that because
of succeasive illnesses I will be unable to represent you at such
& triasl but I will be glad to ald ;gu and any attorney you select

to represent you as best 1 can, you are successful at such a
trial your renunciation of U.8. cltizenship will be set aside and
ou will be declared to be a U,85, ecitizen., If you lose you can
ke an agpeal te the Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circult and

finally, if necessary, to the U.3. Supreme Court,

(2) You can write and ask & U,3, Senator from California or
the Congressman from your District in California to wmake ry
of the Attorney General as to the reasons why he has refused or
his agents in Bepartaent of Justice have refused to comsent to
a cancellation of your wartime renuncistion of U.S. e¢itizenship
which was made by under duress and fear while you were detained
in a W.R.A, concentration camp slmply because of your Japanese
ancestry., You may alse write and ask such a Scnator or Representa-
tive in Congress introduce a !gg¥%§;€§%§} in Congreas to cancel
~ your wartise renunclation eof U.3, eclitize p on the ground that
it was the product of duress and fear and to have it declared that




ou still are a U, 8. citizen. You may also ask friends to write
such a Senator or Representative in Congress on your behalf
requesting that he make such an inguiry of the Attorney General
or that he introduce such a special bill in Congress.

(3) Heretofore I notified you that in my opinion you are
eligible to become a citizen of the United States in a naturaliza-
tion proceeding, 1In consequence, I suggest that you apply for -
naturalization at the U.3. Immigration Cffice nearest you which
is situated at 630 Sansome Street, San Francisco, California,

I am enclosing the "Applicatio: Flle Petition For Naturaliza-
tion" which has been prepare actua you supplied to

my office for that purpose, I suggest that you read it and, if

any corrections are to be made thereon or any additional information
is to be added thereto that you have such matter typed thereon,

You are to sign your full name in the ace provided for
your signature under question (1) of the petition, .

You must ‘obtain three (3) identical passport photographs
2 ineches by 2 inches in size and write in light pencil your aiien

registration number on the reverse side of each of the three photo-
graphs, (Don't write the number in ink.) and file the 3 photo-
graphs with your petition,

When you go to the U.S. ilumlgration office to file your petition
::hzsent of that Service will arrange to have your fingerprints
n.

It 18 my suggestion that you apply for naturalization through
filing such a petition for naturalization as scon as possible,
If you become a citi:cn4b{ naturalization 1t will not be necessary
for you to continue ur lawsult to recover your eitizenship unless
you prefer and insist on pursuing your lawsuit remedy to completion,

Please let me know when you intend to file your petition or
let me know the date that you actually file it,

Very truly yours,




Mr. Masatsujl Ide
3295 Mt. Diablo Blvd.
Lafayette, California

Dear Mr. Ide:

. On May 6, 1964 I sent to you an "aApplication to
File Petition for Naturalization"., I would thank you
to let me know the date that you filed that applica-
tion with the U, S. Immigration Office nearest you.

'I‘would also be grateful if you would let me know
what progress has been made for your naturalization.
/ /,' 4 ,

Very truly yours,

i [‘
/
i
s
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February 18, 1967

Mr. Masatsuji Ide

3295 Mt, Diablo Blvd,
Lafayette, Contra Costa County
California

Dear lir., Ide:

Con{irming our telephone cohversation of this morning
I wish to inform you that the Judtice Department still is
adamant about not giving you clearance in equity proceeding
No., 25294 and wishes the few remaining plaintiffs to be
dismissed without prejudice.

For your information I wish to state that if you will
file the "Petition" or rather "Application To File Petition
For Naturalization", Form N-400, which I prepared for you
and sent on to you on March 22, 1965, I believe your petition
for naturalization will be granted and thot you will become
naturalized. That petition can be filed by you at the office
of the U.5.Immigration & Naturalization Service at 630
Sansome Street, San Francisco., it will be processed promptly
by the "naturalization bureau" of that office.

There is a possibility that you may obtain clearance
direct from the U.,s.Immigration Service in San Francisco
through the medium of filing an affidavit there explaining
why you renounced your citizenship, If that office looks
upon your afiidavit favorably and recommends to the Justice
Department that it give you clearance the Justice Department
thereupon may clear you by documenting you as a U.5. national
and citizen, By proceeding in that manner the questions as
to what occurred in Tule Lake Center and the charges they
held against you will not be in issue as they would in the
event of a trial in equity suit No. 25294, You may pursue that
remedy if you wish and I believe lMas Yonemur:, Esq. would be
willing to take such steps for you inasmuch as you inform me
he hag written to some office in San Francisco concerning
your citizenship. He wrote me a short time ago inquiring
about your status but I was in Los Angeles for & prolonged
period and did not return to San Francisco until a few-days
ago and hence did not answer his letter and, of course, I
would not give him any information about your case without
first receiving your consent to divulge any matters pertaining
to you. Even though the Immigration Service office some years
ago announced that it would process such affidavits only by
a certain date which long has passed it processed one such
affidavit last year through the good offices of Ir. Fullerlove
of the Immigration Service in San Francisco.
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As I informed you this morming the Justice Department
requests that I dismiss the remaining few individuals in
Abo v, deB, Katzenback, No. 25294, without prejudice, which
leaves only a few ren@inciants' status of citizenship undecided
in that equity proceeding, Of these one already has been
nsturalized, Tatsumi Yamamoto, who was sworn in on February
14th last,. 6ne other renunciant who lives in San Francisco
does not wish to proceed to trial either and asks that he
be dismissed from the equity suit. He is filing his petition
for mturalization and 1 assume that he too will be cleared
for he too is a person of good moral character and has been
such for more thabh ten years and is attached to the Consti-
tution of the United States., One other who lives in Los Angeles
also declines to proceed to trial in the U.3, District Court
in the eguity proceeding and is to file his petition for
naturalization in Los Angeles., He too likewise is qualified
to be mturalized as you also are, Of the five additional
renunciants each of whom lives in Japan and is bound by
family ties there none desires to proceed to trial in the
district court and none intends or expects to return to the
United States and each of them also will be dismissed to
bring the equity proceedings to a termination,

Inasmuch as you have decided not to proceed to trial in
Abo v, Katzenback, No, 25294, and orally reggested me to
dismiss you as a plaintiff therein I shall dismiss the suit
as to you and the remaining few renunciants in the U,S5. who
are to file petitions for naturalizatiom and the remalining
few in Japan who no longer are interested in being declared
to be U.S, citizens,

Inasmuch as you have informed me you have not yet filed

¥our petition for naturalization which I prepared for you

suggest that you do what is necessary to correct any changes
in that petition that may be necessary to bring it up to date
and thereupon file it in the office of the U.,5, Immigration
& Naturalization Service in Samn Francisco at 630 Sansome Street.
The naturalization bureau of that office if familiar with the
who story of what happened in the Tule Lake Center and have
knowledge of the governmental duress there exerted upon each
resident and will Brocoss you application properly. Those matters
which the Justice Uepartment long held against Xou and the
things with which they charged you way back in 1944-1945 will
not be held against you in yowr naturalization processing.

If you need any advice or assistance or any services on
my part to aid you to become naturalized do not hesitate to
let me know, Also please inform me when you file your applica=-
tion and also of the date thereafter you are to be naturaliged.

With best wishes, I am
Sincerely yours,
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February 20, 1967

Mr. Wayne M. Collins
Attorney at Law

Mills Tower

220 Bush Street

San Francisco, Calif. 94104

Dear Wayne:
Re: Masatsuji Ide

Thanks very very much for your letter of February
18th in which you enclosed a copy of your letter to Mr. Ide.

I have already spoken to Grover Cochrane, Assistant
District Director for Deportation, and he has indicated that
the Service policy is sympathetic and he furnished me with some
old forms N-576.

I was able to go through the Service's file in this
matter and got the pertinent dates and correspondence. It was
my first chance to see the other party's file and it was an
eye-opener.

I have said this before, but I do want to repeat it,
that is, you probably did more to help rectify the greatest mass
violation of civil rights and civil liberties this country has
ever known than anyone else. Others who helped with various
phases of the evacuation program and who got publicity because
they took cases to the U. S. Supreme Court have had testimonials
and monuments built, but when the final history (I mean the
definitive history) is written, the researchers are surely to
run across the unpublicized and effective work that you did
for those whose causes were the most unpopular and who were
all but abandoned by their "loyal" brothers of common ancestry.

With the very warmest of personal regards.

Sincerely,

AN M~

Mag Yonemura




April 25, 1967

United States Attorney

Federal Building

450 Golden Gate Avenue

san Francisco, California 94102

Attention: Charles Elmer Collett, Esquire
Chief Assistant United States Attorney

Dear Mr. Collett:

Annexed hereto you will find original and two coples
of the affidavits of the following named persons:

(1) IDE, Masatsuji, born December 25, 1912,
(2) CHUMAN, Hayao, born April 24, 1913.
(3) NAKAMOTO, Tokuji, born December 8, 1916,

(4) YAMAMOTO, Tatsumi, born April 2, 1917.

Pursuant to my telephone conversation with Paul J.
Grumbly, Esquire, who is, I understand, in the general litigation
section of the civil department of the U, S. Department of Justice
in Washington, D, C., these affidavits are presented to you to
forward direct to his attention for review pursuant to an agree-
ment I entered into with the Attorney General some years ago.

' Mr. Grumbly will review said files with a view to
determining whether or not the Justice Department will consent
to the entry of a judgment in favor of sald persons cancelling
ghelr renbunciations and declaring them to be U. S. citizens by

irth. ‘

I would be grateful if you would forward the affidavits
to the Department of Justice to Mr. Grumbly's attention as soon as
possible.

Very truly yours,

WMC
kt
Enclosures




April 25, 1967

Mr. Masatsuji Ide
3295 Mt., Diablo Boulevard
Lafayette, California

Dear Mr. Ide:

I wish to inform you that Paul J. Grumbly
of the Justice Department has agreed to review your
affidavit once again,

It is possible that his review of the flle
may result in an agreement by the Justice Department
to the entry of a judgment cancelling your renunciation
of citizenship.

When Mr., Grumbly has given me his determination
on the matter, I will write and let you know, I believe
that his answer should be obtained within a period of
three weeks,

Very truly yours,




June 12, 1967

Mr, Masatsuji lde
3295 Mt, Diable Blvd.
Lafayette, C:lifornia.
Dear Mr, Ide:

The U, S. Attorney's office telephened
me this morning at 10:45 to inferm me that pursuant
to my request the Justice Department's atterney Paul
Jo. Grumbly reviewed your case and upen reconsideratien
the Atterney Ueneral will waive its offer of preef in
your case and consent to a judgment being entered in
the mass equity suit cancelling yeur renunciatien
and consenting that a judgment be entered declaring
that your renuncistion was veid from the beginning
and that you are and always have been a native bern
U.S5. citizen and, as such, entitled to all the fights,

privileges and immunities of U.S. citizenship.

I shall have a judgment entered in your
favor in a day of twe and will send you a cepy of the

judgment for your own use,

Very truly yours,

e

WMC /W

i

/%@M:/4
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June 14, 1967

lMr, Masatsuji Ide
3295 Mg, Yiablo Boulevard
Lafayette, California

Dear Masatsuji:

Enclosed find a certified copy of
the final and conclusive judgment which was entered
on June 14, 1967. 4+t cancels your renunciation and
declares that you are and always have been & native
born U. 5. citizen and, as sugh that you are entitled
to all the rights snd privileges of citizenship.

Inasmuch as the judgment declares that
your renunciation was void at the time it was made
it never became effective at all andé, therefore, you
never did lose your U. S. citizenship.

I am pleased that your citizenship no
longer is in doubt.

With best wishes, I am

Sincerely yours,

WMC /W




muummmm«mu%,zw.
mitbting an affidavit for o determinstion as to whether the
ormmarmmtmmmm.»m

the coverage of the ruling of the Court of Appeals in

176 F. 24 953, in sccordsace wi s
u&%tﬁ&auz& September 21, 1953,

Wayae M. Collins

We have re-exsmined the affidevit, together with pertinent
Govermmental files aad sre of the opinion that the case of the
m:«sammmboMu—mucmummmm
of' the Court of Appeals in the sbove csse.

/,

you dated June 9, 1955.
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June 13, 1967

Mr. Masatsuji Ide
3295 Mt. Diablo Blvd.
Lafayette, California
Dear Mr. Ide:

Mr. Collins called me yesterday and told me that
your name was included among those of the remaining renunciant
cases which were cleared recently by the Department of Justice.

I am sure you will be hearing directly from Mr. Collins
within the next few days.

)Bincerel b

MY:pb

C:%a Yonemura

cc: Mr. Wayne M. Collins
Attorney at Law
Mills Tower
220 Bush Street
San Francisco, Calif.




REGISTERED NO.

19482

Value %&‘ ‘d‘d

"Spec‘lal 3
Delivery

Reg. Fee $ / fd

Return
Receipt

e

Handling 5
Charge $

Restricted $
Delivery

Postage $

POSTMASTER (By

/_L\ [] AIRMAIL

7

'POSTMARK OF




B

SAVE THIS RECEIPT

R, 0 4
¢0VE&G( —PDomestic insurance for registered mail is limited to
(L) the:valle of the article at the time of mailing or the cost of re-
placement if lost or totally damaged, or (2) the cost of repairs.
Coverage may not exceed the limit fixed for the registry fee paid.
Consult postmaster for additional details of insurance limits and

coverage for domestic registered mail.

FILING CLAIM—Ciaim must be filed within 1 year from the date of
mailing. Present this receipt and submit evidence of value, cost of
repairs, or cost of duplication.

FOREIGN COUNTRIES—Consult postmaster as to insurance coverage
on registered articles addressed to foreign countries.

GFO ©€48—16—79020-1




July 13, 1967

MR, MASATSUJI IDE
3295 Mt,., Diablo Blvd.
Lafayette, California

Dear Masatsuji:

Enclosed find $200 in currency which you
left at my office and intended as a gift to me
but which I cannot accept.

None of the persons who were plaintiffs in
the mass habeas corpus and mass equity suits
contributed more than $300 to the trust funds
which enabled the litigation to be carried on
to completion. *“any contributed nothing or very
little. You contributed your full share. As
the trustee of the funds heretofore raised and
exhausted I could not accept from you more than
your share and I am opposed to receiving gifts.

I appreciate the motive which prompted you
to make the gift to me.

With best wishes to you and
your family, I am

Sincerely yours,




ADDITIONAL AFFIDAVIT OF MASATSUJI IDE

~1l. What were your reasons for replying in the negative to
Questions 27 and 28 of the Army-WRA Registration Form?

I was one of the thirteen who originated the Kibei Japanese
American Citizens League at Los Angeles for the prime purpose of
Americanization of Kibeis before the war. I denounced dual citi-
zenship, and I was one of the few who, to set a good example,
early renounced my Japanese citizenship (prior to 1941) during
the midst of militarism in Japan. This action caused me anxiety
as to the safety of my wife, child and myself during duration in
camp and post war life in Japan. I never even dared to dream
that a single Japanese in any of the war relocation camps would
be allowed the privilege of remaining in the United States after
the bombing of Pearl Harbor. At that time public sentiment was
s0 bad that I honestly believed that any person with even a drop
of Japanese blood would be deported to Japan. Hysteria and wild
rumors also ran rampant.

I also worried about the safety of my mother, and two sisters
and their families living in militaristic Japan if I answered in
the affirmative. They would be under suspicion by the Kempei
(military police) as being related to a person who swore disal-
legiance to Japan.

Block 39 in which I was living consisted of only fifteen
family men and close to two hundred or more bachelor Isseis (first
generation Japanese). They talked about numerous punishments we
would receive in Japan when we were deported. Mr. Miwa and Mr.
Noguchi who lived next to my apartment repeated day after day
that any person answering Yes to questions 27 and 28 would surely
be minus a neck after deportation to Japan.

each time with an l-A classification. I was to report to duty on

March 27, 1942, but was not granted the opportunity, and instead,

was treated as an enemy alien and forced into a concentration camp
he point of a bayonet i = ase and a bed roll.

I took the U.S. Army physical examination twice and passed L//




Masatsuji Ide Page 5

(ﬁi ? I knew then for sure that I was the next viectim to be attacked.
From fear I could not think straight. I could not resign from the
Dan, because that would be further proof of disloyalty to Japan.
Saburo Bingo confessed to me at the Santa Fe Camp that I was next
to Kurihara on the black list to be attacked at the first chance.
The Dan cancelled the attack after my brother informed or cautioned
Bingo to watch out because the F.B.I. questioned him as to who
attacked Kurihara. My brother lived next to Saburo Bingo's apart-
ment and so was probably influenced by Bingo. Bingo told me that
he then changed his mind about my brother and myself, and that I
was saved from attack. I think that Kurihara believes it was I
who informed the dan about his activities during the nights, be-
cause he told me so, but I have nothing to do about his being
attacked. Under such an environment and circumstances I had to
be a good member in standing for my safety.




2. What were your reasons for applying for repatriation to
Japan on February 18, 19437

There were rumors that anyone applying for repatriation would
not be requested to answer questions 27 and 28; that any person
answering No to 27 and 28 would be fined ' ten thousand dollars,
and life or 20 years at hard labor. '

I presumed that the war would not end for a long time, and I

was afraid to relocate out of camp because there were rumors that

people who did experienced great difficulty in obtaining housing,
Jjobs, police protection, etc.

I was almost positive that as soon as war ended the United
States government would send all Japanese to Japan, especially the
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Isseis and Kibeis who were raised in Japan. I, therefore, wanted
to establish a good record so that I would not be punished and
remain safe after the war in Japan, especially since I was a
Japanese citizenship renunciant and also a member of the Kibei
JACL (Japanese American Citizens League) for the Americanization
of Kibeis. The above-mentioned activities really worried me until
the day of Japan's unconditional surrender.




&: What were your reascons for becoming a member of the
Sokujl Kiﬁoku Hoshi-Dan and why did you not resign?

e When I moved to Tule Lake my neighbor was Mr. and Mrs. Susumu
Karihara who were childless. They came to my apartment every
.night. One night Mr. Kurihara was attacked and almost killed.
Since he visited my apartment regularly Saburo Bingo, Ishizaka,
Akashi, and Inouye assumed that 1 belonged to the same prec-America

wor. traitor group as Kurihara. They watched me very closely, although

I do not know what Mr. Kurihara did to be attacked. I went to
Tohara and Morodomi to request my brother's and my admission to the
Dan since Morodomi was my family friend, because my brother and I
were neither notified nor invited to the celebration of the forma-
tion of the Hoshi-Dan. Every meeting and activity of the Dan was
kept a secret from us for a long time. When I was under the =
impression that we were to be deported, and my very life was in \

danger

I just couldn't or didn't even think of resigning. Only \

after fohara went to talk to Bingo and Akashi were suspicions liftea\

from us. I never left my apartment after dark, and even in the
dusk when I went out to the laundry room to fetch a bucket of water
I cushioned my head with a thick padding of material under my hat
in case of an attack from the back. Before and after Kurihara's
attack the lights used to go out from the kitchen entrance, boiler
room of the messhall, and the laundry drying room almost every
night. I asked Mr. Hirata the chief cook, "Why don't you keep the
lights on every night?" He answered, "I do. It's funny because I
put them on myself every night, but when I arrive in the morning
the lights are off."™ I suspected then that Bingo and Ishizaka were

/" watching me.

oA

£
i



8(c):
When the gangs of Dan members were shipped to Santa
'er camp, a ffiend who 1lived at Apt. T7413D, next to my
brother's apt. visited me to help me clear off the suspicion
I was under with the Dan on account of my friendship with
Mr. Kurihara., He said he was appointing me as assistant
treasurer which I refused, but he told me I couldn't
refuse so I was such for one month. This was after the real
Outside

leaders and originators were sent away to Santa Fe,

of that my only connection was that I had gone to morning

exercises as I was told I had to go.

9. What were your reasons for also becoming a member of the'
Hokoku Seinen-Dan and why did you not resign? '

I registered for the sokuji Kikoku Hoshi-Dan, but I did not ,
sign nor apply to become a member of the Hokoku Seinen Dan. They
may have put my name in the Hokoku Seinen-Dan because I attende 4 ﬂ

their morning drills, but I was unaware of the fact that I was

automatically a member of both. At the hearing I may have said y, 4/

that I was a member of both Jans, but as I have mentioned, I had P |

neither applied nor signed up as a member of Hokoku Seinen-Dan., L:f%?&‘
Une day Tsunejiro Tohara came and told me that he had gone to \

Akashi to persuade him about me. He told me to write my name and

address in Japanese and to Stamp with blood my fingerprint. I

did as he told me, because under such circumstances I had to com-

ply. Tohara is the father-in-law of Hajime Morodomi and who thus

helped me from being attacked. Hajime Morodomi was a very good

family friend of my late father and uncle,

10. As an officer of the Sokuji Kikoku Hoshi-Dan, what duties
did you perform, to whom, where and how and why?

After the first group of Hoshi-Dan officers were sent to
Santa Fe Camp, Saburo Bingo came and asked me to go with him to
meeting. The meeting was to reorganize the Dan and to nominate
officers. Saburo Bingo nominated me as an assistant treasurer ¢qf
the Sokuji Kikoku Hoshi-Dan. I declined, but the members preseft
were desperate and did not accept my refusal nor even listen tof me.
There was no election; whoever was nominated became an officer. I
went with Tanouye the Treasurer, whom Iwas assisting, from one jwa
officer to the next to collect money, but I did not know the
amount. 1 carried the money satchel and accompanied Tanouye to
Uyemaruko's apartment to hand him the money. This was my first and
last duty as an assistant treasurer. Less than a month later I
was sent to Santa Fe. I didn't know the source of the money, who
used the money, or how it was used. All I ever did was to help
collect the money with Treasurer Tahouye to deliver to Uyemaruko.




9(A): //,

Sometime in January, 1945, I was very anxious to be

removed from Tule Lake because I was in fear of physical
violence from the Dan because I was considered an inu and
friend of Mr. Kurihara w?z&?ad been attacked in June, 1944

and I believe it was by 0 and Ishisaka
(74 éy T it
Akashi, Tohara and Bingo, SEKS Tl Hoshi Dan

leaders told me I was to be deported to Japan and as Dan
member I had to renounce. They said many times I had no

choice and had to do it, Bingo said if I didn't I would

still be placed aboard the ship but I'd never land because
I'd get mine at sea, A%ggg%;and_ggggif told me I had to do
it or I'd be Mm by the Kempeitai or police or be
shipped away no one knows where by them and would be put
in a slave labor camp and

\3 through starvation and brutal treatment. I knew I better
not refuse to renounce my citizenship because I was regarded
as an "inu", I did not want to get killeq or crippled by
the Dan in Tule Lake and didn't want to be thrown over-
board from ship when I got deported and didn't want to be

punished in Japan. So I had to take the order and renounce

my ciltizenship. I was worried for my wife and child's
safety too, %@M /”/‘/'«‘V/%’/h
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Masatsuji Ide

12, When did you make the repeated requests to renounce?

I regquested to renounce after 1 heard from Shunj#ﬂhoyama that
his renungiation was approved, and after several SokuJifKikoggin
Hoshi or Seinen-Dan sponsored hearings were held, and after g

vigorously urged to do the same.




ad

dme 1me/é1 ; g}}{1945/

;%z{get awdy from the Dan., He said that I was rightyq
latter part of March, 1945, someone found out my actions and
intention to secede from the Dans. Thereafter I was watched
~and followed all/gpe time until the first repatriate group
went to Japan--Nov, 27, 1945, I started to work in the

mess hall, but I was forced to quit because someone stole m

two letters from my wife dated April 19 and May 18, thereby

learning of my intentions to discontinue Membership.

11, What were your reasons for making early and repeated
requests for permission to renounce your citizenship?

As I have mentioned previously, I was misconstrued and was
definitely to be attacked by Saburo Bingo's group. A concrete
evidence of my definite approval of renunciation of citizenship
was required for the safety of my life and probably of my family.
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Masatsuji Ide

1-5 copy affidavit.
6+ Yoo, Lebi18,1943, Mareh 14,1945, Oct.1;1945.

I applied for repatriztion on B Feb, 18, 1943, at the Eohwer
Relocation Center. At the time there had been rumors and gossip
in that Center that made me believe that if we didn:t apply for
repatriztion we were to be forced to leave the safety of the

Yenter and be sent out t%a?elocate in t Zygt of Middle West
¢
by the WRA during the war, wouldn t be safe from harm
THH e
anquould be discriminated agalnst and not, be able to earn a

&wh/ /14—%\4
\_——-_EiXiE§5<§lso there werd rumorgAt at all the Issei and Kibei

and maybe even Nisei were going to be deported to Japan just

AMNAr-2ey
as soon as the Gyvernment c&#3d send us there on the exchange

ship. AbouXL n1nety percent of the residents in block ?where
M€ 29 I’té’ ;
lived in Rohwer were Issei bachelors. They
€22;2aagiﬁéithat if citizens didn't apply for repatriation

before being deported that on arrival the Japanese authorities

would consider us disloyal and the &fgszrpe Thought Centrol
an

or Military Pjlice would arrest us Agend us to concentration

 TeaH 10 Sl
camps amm or put @m us in prison @“M if we

hadn't a reco;% to show that we applieff for d repatri:ztion_ ass
s
hey insistedAthat member of our families in Japan would be

regarded with suspicion and be kept under surveillance andé@

investigated,smd I believed what they said was true and dimmhim
too

that my mother ﬁ?;} be mistreated by them/if I ixinnxn
hr? 2
got deported aaiéd£§;£§§:§:iy for repatriation.£In Rohwer where

'“iéﬁag‘ﬁény of the residents received letters from rEsidegps

in thd camps mm at Pgston and Gila stating that

applied for repatriation e would not be forced to leave camp
during the war and would not have to register and answer the
Army-WRA Questionnaire but that those who didn't apply for
repatriation would be forced to leave camp during the war and

risk their safdty outside in a hostilé community and face dis-




“and wouldn't be able to obtain housing or jobs or )
N7 police protedtien. e
crinination/\lt was the rumor that those who signed for

repatriation wouldn't have to answer the Questionnaire and those

égé%'didn't sign for repatriation would have to answer it 4./

Q7428 7
Aeme question%ior elge be fined and sent to prison and afterward
be deported to Japan and then wewdd be very harshly treated mm
on arrival in Japan because W considered to be enemies

of Japan. /My wife and I mmamkikx were too scared to risk having

1 Lot
to relocate during the¢’rvwhile the public was so hostile to

ALG—
us becjuse of our ancestry and we were,terribly worried that

we might be deported to Japan and we didntt wané‘ggfigce
mistreatment:in Japan. We didn:t want to be repecated when we
were withoug&éséets and feared we couldnft get work or live in
safety outside the camp and we didn:t want to be deported either.
I wanted to answer Yes to mhm questions 27 amd 28 but I mm was
it would result in my being
fearful if I did that/I wembdmbenes¥ezakedmedinxmymwhes xming
b xwamihxmx relocated during theaartime‘audjhy wife was too
fearful of leaving the Center and I didnit wish to be separated
from her as she was dependent on me, sB& I was fearful that I
might be deported so I just didntt dare gimEm¥pImanswensmgoxmx
nuexRinxexR¥mamimRMX  not answeri@@ the Questionnaire beczuse
if I refused I could be fined and dem sent to Pmimsmxm prison,
To be safe from relocating and to stay in camp with my wife
for the duration of the war like the WRA originally stated we cmm
could do I applied for repatriﬁgégn‘at Rohwer because I believed
tAat only by so doing I could ﬁnégﬁak:a§ m in camp and not be
separated from my wife and not be forced out and in case the
Government finally did deport us to Japan my wife and I would be
sent together and we wouldn't be punished on arrival in Japan
hemmwaem bec use we applied to repatri-te.

O, March 14, 19,5, I applieff for repatriation when I was in

the Alien I™ternment CGamp at Santa Fe. Ag the time my wife was




in the T,le Lake|Center with our baby daughter Toshike who

mamxipami had been born on Neov. 11, 1943 and gﬁﬁkhahxmx-n

Hrte
@as cxpecting the birth of our baby son Sachimi who later was

born in the Tyle Lake ‘enter on Oct. 3, 1945. I didn't wish
to sign for repztriation at that time bec:-use I was hoping
that samsmim somehow I could be rejoined with my family. But
Saburo Bingo and other big leaders of the Dan were in the

camp and thew kept watch on everyone to see that nobody tried
anyone
to breck 1oo%e from the group. He stated that lllll who failed

to apply for repatriation and anybody @Z.pé?ﬁﬁﬁ éﬁg;Zmﬁ/
e sure
h«!ﬁtm“hbp would be mmmmm to get what was mamikr

o]
coming to him right in camp,and that if any of us didn' t apply

ﬁumxmnpxhxﬂxmtmnmllm-ﬁgilnmkhxnxnkhknnghmunngg ¢{/ 4&§
ety

for r epatriation there it would be found out.’amd any such person

{ - el

placed aboard the deportation ship but it

A
was a cinch suc?Aperson would never arrive in Japan but would

be pushed overboard long before mhmm arriving, He,mgant what he
#rig )

said and as he was the main leader ofmkhsm and I,downright mzmxm

seared that he would carrymmmhzmgixem out his threat. So I had

to make that applic tion for repatriation because I feared
Bingo's group

what would happen to me if I didn't. Bmmpm kept a list and it

was a blacklist of anyone who didn't mamxyxmmm do as he was told

to
and he said it was gm be delivered to the Japanese authorities.




Also I spplied for repatriation again in the mamgmxHFeam
Alien I ternment Camp at Santa Fe on October 1, 1945, because

I was just too scared not to do so. It was during my stay in 3
P 25 - T 2&%/’? -
that camp t atZI was one Zf the or 26 persons whoy Openly”as

stated we /2 Al Zickittye S
/(disagreed with the principles and activities of the

7 rt_é»z}//h«//héd(‘w‘zh
Hoshi Dan and Seinen Dan members and our ‘ﬁicsi!i:i;m aroused

hostility toward us..I was watched suspiciously

Ty Pirmdrs ks ting “fbhoit,.
T v%wghishicfgq, £ Issei, day and
epceoet KO N, Ctrerd arb 252

( night ,
5/ {4ﬁé§£/§;néﬁﬁifz 'e ‘é hi Dan and Seinen Dan
Jon -7 dordon: X Z-,/ I f ) aibosrnis S pordl, el Jtr0 mﬁg
in the mewshall tha o was stolen from under my
bed, & thereafterlletters I received from my wife also were
stolen. My wife was in‘the Tule Lake Center and was pregnant,
expedting the bkrth of our second baby, Sachimi, who was borqﬁéé»:
on Oct, 3, 1945, I wa = in the mess hall in fimmbamim
the Santa Fe camp so I could earn an allowance to send to her to
canteen the
buy a few of the/foods she craved but my money order mimxmwazm
I was to send to her also was stolen. Mr, Nakamura from Hawaii
who wax the head of the postoffice mi:igigimnmunghxnummaknxluhmnn.
aRoEhEnxXmEnEpxnroeEnxhanandnkexsahdmis would take months of
investigaztion béfore it was found out what happendd to it

U L T R S —— = 7Y}
before he would write up angther money order for me, :
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g oemt, Re@&m and explained my fears
y , ;% Iw = ;
oS Bﬁn leaders tp him, and hemsakdxtimain told him & resiiedes
(oo goiess i rgita e
\ /<the an and h said ight tl 3

A

L would ,
Ve } ,1;mMWc it %
7 Aonly person in the Sgnta Fe Camp who resigned amgwo I was the

(74
U Bdal
ean ouble for me. =

only outcast from the group in the camp and I was treated as

a dog and even my wife learned about it in Tule Lake Center as
she was warned by Mrs. Kuwano, the mother-in-law of Ishizaka,
that my r:esignation would spell trouble for me. As a result
there was pressure borught on me by the whole arowd in the Santa

Fe camp and I was shunned and called an @ inu and was in




eeRatARE fear all the time up to the time bhm most of the

group wefe sent to Jépan mm in December of 1945, Sabure Bingo

told me that I was a fool to resign from the Dan and that

hxmamxhad xbemam I wouldn't be reunited with my wife mmix

and that I was gure to get deported anyway and that mhm

sapamssanx I'd be treated as an inu in camp and also in Japan

where I could expect to run into a lot of trouble for

making an application for mmmm reunion with my miflmpx wife,ﬁ(
.{t, t I better apply for repatrigpggn if I nhwadmmyxm
chZh to be reunited with my fami?szgéiff I wankmsmiox

didn:t want to get beaten in camp and be shoved overboard#_gzzlf

enroute to Japan./\ ecaﬁse of the threats made to me and because
of being called a dog and treated as one and beczuse I feared
that I wouldn't be reunited wiizazz family in the Tyle “ake
l%nter but would béﬂggportgé:?/answered thg eMaxmemgzmx

questidéns on the repia%i tion application on Odtober 1, 1945,
that I had always been

i
]

|
i
i

“apan and wished to be repatriated as early as possible and \\

to contribute to t@at country's post-war industry although my
answers &R just weren't true at all. I didn:t have any choice
about giving such answers as I was in a camp surrounded by

Dan leaders who kept a close watch on all of us and any deviation
from what they wanted was bound to bring their wrath down on me,
i;li=i was just plgigjscﬂred that I would become &, victim to their

Gt !,__Q,/r&/,lﬂ":lmw

- e < =
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Also I thought that by WA«Z{%;—M“

»& when a record of
this reached Japan it would counteract any report given against

me by the Dan leaders so thzt I wouldn't be denied food rations

in Japan and wouldn't be mistreated there. If I didn't give such

answers and got deported anywgy I rezlized that the facts that
I had rendunced my dual nationality back in 1934 at Lys Angeles
and that I had been one of the organizing members of the Kjbei
Section of the Japanese American Citizen's League and had worked
to Americanize the Kibeis mgm who became members would be held

against me.




7(A): Yes Yes

In 1940 or 1941 I registered under the draft law at

Concord, Calif., where_ I lived—with—my—wife-who—was—

dependent=en=me,> I was working at gardening and landscapiii &;
n

I was classified 1-A and was willing to swear allegiance a
serve in the U.S. Army. A short time after Japan started the
war our neighbors Mrs. McGregor and later Mrs, George
deGolia who lives at Boyer Circle, Lafayette, Calif., visited
us and asked me what I was going to do and I told them I was
going to fight for the U.S. against Japan and Germany.

I took two physical exam%zaZioﬁéAfor the Army and both

. /%%4%/J
Later?ﬁ? had to go to the Stockton Assembly Center and

later to the Rohwer Relocation Centgr, McGhee, Ark., where
e g

& gave negative answers to Questions 27 & 28 of the
Army questionnaire at Rohwer. There were several reasons
for this. One was because I did not know what was going
to happen to me and my wife. I was hurt to think I was not

A2
treated like a citizen and=mad=de—be placed in a guarded

camp like an alien or enemy of my own country after I had

\\\ieen willing to serve in the Army. I already had received

a U4-C classification which was the alien enemy classification.,

£ R g —
T fraly— - e e SRS S i e re— -r
% S R o Tl A thet . T s
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" There were rumorg/phat those who gave Yes answers to question
27 might taken into the Army even though the soldiers didn't
want any of us to serve aloqgside of them beczuse of our ancestry
and that we would be treated as menials or used like cannon fodde
just to get rid of us. I wasn't afraid of serving in the Army.
I had tried my best to be accepted by my draft board and to be
inducted but was turned down as above stated. Then too there were
rumors that anyone who answered Yes to question 28 would be
forced to leave the Center and be relocated outside during the
s maiee- war and would have to face severe public hostility

and discrimination and wouldn't be able to hold a job because

of the anti-Japanees feeling of the public. I didn:t dare to

risk relocation with my wife under such conditions. HAiitem We
wanted to stay in il camp for the duration of the '?."f}" because
of having been evacuated and not being allowed to return home
and because we were just afraid of public hostility and race

discrimination,/The rumors flying around were that if we

applied for repatriation we would not have to answer the

Questionnaire but would be allowed to stay in %l camp for the

we had to answer the Questionnaire

Gt Ay >

rumors were that if we answered No to questions 27 and 28 we
would not be forced by the WRA to

relocate to some new community to face hostility and discrimina-
tion but could stay in the camp for the duration of the war.

We he:rd repeatedly that both husband and wife must act alike

in answering the Questionnaire or else husbanddwould be separated
from wives. We didntt wish to be separated either and just wanted
to stay in camp for the duration of the war and then go home.

I believed thzt by answering No to those questions we could

stay together in the camp for the duration and that is why I

rave such answers, I didntt give those answers because of any




feeling of disloyalty to the U.S. but because of my fears and

the then seeming hepelessness of my position. Akse there were

/tumors that Issei and Kibei most likely would be deported

eventudlly anyway and anyone who gave Yes answers to either
question 27 or 28 would be treated as an enemy of Japan on
~arrigal there ss# for having given such answers and that would
mean we Would be thrown into a concentration camp or prison

in Japan or be given even worse treatment.
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8(A) Copy affidavit.
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8(B): »
Block T4 where I lived with my wife was controlled gb\\.
the Hoshi Dan and Seinen Dan, The leaders were the Issei

Sanae Akashi and Bingo and Kibei Inouye and Ishisaka,
tried to fo LnZO memgifship by saying I was toﬁg
M better join up to be a member or
‘77 :
Mv 7.#!(,« /k‘}( \
“ ﬂéﬁp% St
am—a—tmsdtor, Ibéﬁiqg}d/;;;;;;~;hb . At

be reported to Japanese government,:nﬁ/“:-

S?ﬁ.w I held off and didn't
Join ”v"ﬁ%m’ W%M /ﬂ%{mhf

7/¢ Be main reason themgh thay, I had finally to Joi; was

S £

because of fear of coming to from the Da}1
- Susumu Kurihara and his wife, Issei, lived at T417-F in Tule
Lake next to my apt. Because they were childless they were
in habit of coming to our(?mfwigmost every night for three
to four months, (Our first child, Tokiko, had been born

in Tule on Nov. 22, 1943), Due to these visits of the

Kuriharas who were not members of the Dan;maﬂy)people

2
suspectezz?e g: being sympathetic to k#®s views and of being
0@1—\0
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ﬂ""” £ %W

Ha jime Morodomijand his brother-in-law Tohara, Issei,
came and told me I better join the Hoshi Dan a:?the Dan . \
% }
suspected me of being againgt them and t e Z?
e K Lnols) pacee A (ot
attacked and t“€4ﬁa,4t° avoid physical injury w3s tq/Join
the Dan, kng away from the Kuriharas and a oiqﬂsuséicion.
AN 4
To be safe I, ag ;gﬂ’to Join., Mr. Kurihara wals hccused of
: % §Z o DIV PtUcspices
being an 1nu‘A ecause he against the hunger strike,

e
Emas regardeqﬂas an "inu" for being his friend.

Ane . :
Mr, Kurihara was attacked by about a
month later the Kuriharas moved 46r the block, I was

even more worr ed th use Ig thoqup the Kur hiaz%a?a
- &9’ AL % égh
no se me as-rSMws—-uuu-w ; swne - R < 5—the

Bingo Ishisaka group 3 spected me of being se!tgsgy

¢£ﬂ4b
sympathetic to Kurihara and against the Daq& I was in fear
of being harmed.

e
/ 1'1%3 ,\Q/MJ %Q /{¢7 2 rve fé"h L
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I attended the morning physical exercises after
; I was wareed that
I became a member because/it was a requirement.,mmimmimm I went
to several hemsmxmsm lectures that were given on Japanese
om inzm e xo Xh Enxexhensmsa xiraEmasnancagningman gmEnggxm
culture . Then a fter the first groupngg7§nnmmnnﬂnnnmmlnlm
hakEnxawaynandmpenininxnrhEnamsamnn xm
/z%&hjﬁz’gip officers were taken away from The Tule Lake Center .
‘_ﬂgnd placed in internment Saburo Bingo came and asked me to
attend a meeting . I didn' t dare refuse., The meeting was to
At the meeting
reofganize the remaining members. Hemsnxp es e o xesmamafi xoboe xmx
peEanphamxhensnghanxhxakowhdmrs xappairhed xagsnanxaKRXaEAKDX
mnlmﬁnnlm new officers were named to replace those who had
been sent to internment. Saburo Bingo suggested to the people
there that I should be named axmepimzammxinxfiam an assistant
1m0 Km Em Xk X in 200 i arm rm S R Xt &m Xm £ xmes rn xm
treasurer of the Sokuji Kikoku Hoshi Dan to replace the one

who had been sent away to internment. I declined but the members

present wouldn't take no for an answer and wouldn't listen to me

( There were no elections. Whoever was nominated by anyone was

appointed. I was named an assistant to Tanouye who was mapmigx
appointed treasurer. Only once after that did I do anything
at all in connection with the Dan and that was to go with
Tanpuye on one occasion as he visited the ward offices. Less

I A of Jproas 1955
than one month later I was sent to Santa FQAfor being a member

of the mamy Sokuji Kikoku Hoshi Dan/.

fhaxorganinapinaninwasn foxnedxbangoinxm




8(D) After I became a member of the Sokuji Ki okuzzgghi

e

add o
fhn“ip Octobegﬂof 1944 I just didn' t dare resign . I hadjto join

for my own safety in camp or else be attacked just like Mr.
/& Wy

“wn ﬁ,’x‘W!
Kurlharthad been attackeq& And after that happened to him

I was so acared that I would be treated the same way that I
just didn deare leave my apartment after dark and even in

the dusk when I :::3; out to the laundry room to fetch a bucket
of water I cushioned my head with a thick padding of material

under my hat in case I got attacked from the back,

v 16}

After I was ségﬁktg‘/the camp at Santa Fe Saburo Bingo
told me that while I was in ghe Tule Lake Center I had been
scheduled to be attacked beczuse I was suspected of having
given information to the FEB.I. pointing a finger at the Dan

leaders having been hhnxnzmsnx€éy respondible for the attack
e in Tule “ake
on Mr, Kurihara- bat that /Pad been informed/mxmgm by my
Toshiwo
brother /that such was not the fact for he had been questioned

by the F.B.I. about who had attacked Mp, Kurihara but that
he was not able to say who had done it or who had caused it
to be done. So Saburo Bingo told me that&m
<E=wés the next on the blackkist to be att:cked after Mr,
Kurihara but what my brother had told him saVQ/me from being
20 Bl 750

attacked, My brother had lived next door to Saburo Blngqqln the

Tule ‘ake lenter.
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Wanting wery much to get away from the Uan leaders mmmm
in the “anta Fe camp and
out of the Dan and hoping that somehow I could be reunited

in Honolulyy mmn s
my problems and fear of the Dan leaders and asked him what
teying to get away

‘he thought about my mamkgmimp from the mamm Sokuji Kikoku Hoshi
Tyis was after

Dan and he advisedm me that I was right in doing so. ﬂnmﬁnmﬂ§@nm
was the time that 25 or 26 of us openly stated disapproval o
nemhpmadnfimom the Dan., As a result bhymwasmxwabzhedxavm xfishiowmsain
of my mesignation I mm was watched and followed during the rest
mhhmdnnimy the time #m I was in the Santa Fe camp until the
first group repatriated to Japan. I started to work in the

mess hall in Santa Fe but I bad to quit beczuse of the

pressure put on me and my being called a dog and being shunned
by members, It was whithe during this period that hmmrmkmxinimxm
HXaERXmynrexnestnfoxnrewnommwh knxmymRamnd lym

my aprlication form for reunion with my family was stolen from
under my bed and the letters I received from my wife were also
stolen and the money order I was to send to my wife was stolen
like I stated in my answer to Question 6 of this affidavit,
lhen I resigngd from the Dan and I was the only person in

Santa Fe who did so.amd g;en after I did so I was scared

that I would surely be beaten by the grmmpxhsmxmymimnpsxefmx
samsihewxinehr g cnemnrh ke stmwh ki o ym Reme b Joyop a0 em e 8 o g b s Em e mp smm
ORNFAgRAXhonrR g0

group but I hoped tAat maybe that could be avoided if I was
allowed to be reunited with my family pumzkimx in the Tule Lake
Uenter quiekly. However, I was not reunited with them and
amm¥okox 6n Oct. 1, 1945, because of all the rumors and threats
going on in the Santa Fe Camp and because I feared I wouldn't
be allowed to remain in the U.S, but would be deported and that
only by being repatriated biilﬁiwoulg(be'able to'be reunited
with my family and acting under threats and my fear of being

treated violently in camp I had to sign for repatriation like

I answered to question 6 of thaés affidavit.
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8(E):

‘Refer to B(B). \
8(F): |

I had been warned by Bingo, Morodomi and Tahara that

once a memb) _§1way; a me ber and that anyone who withdrew

82 in camp, or on the boat

when being sent to Japan or on arrival in Japan and that§\
family members in Japan would be held responsible for our
actions too,
The latter part of Marqé 1945 someone found out gﬁ#ééPg
intentions to from the Dang., Thereafter
I was watched and followed by someone all the time until
departure of the repatriate ship, Nov. 27, 1945, I started
work in the mess hall but was forced to quit for reason
stated in (D) Someone atso stole hy family reunion
applicat on which denounced the activit and 12553 of the
Né ah//ée ’//%
Dan
Wiz:;ﬂ;—/
Mr. Toshio Sakaguchi, who now lives at Honolulu,
Hawaii, T.H., P.0. Box 1230, advised me tojggi-m the camp
/o Of

v"

authority to remove (oBe GBBERESE tabo aqother cegter, but
.{,«u ,

when I thought a t my family Tule Lake da rous
e Loy s o S
1

that she was

for me to do so My wi e wrote <%§§%?ly,
wa E 2 -in-
rned by a Dan lad embee he  mother-in lay/of Ish;zaka,
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9(A) I think it was in latter part of 1944 that I had to sign
mxmxmreyueEmt two or so requests
makm anmegnasik to renounce by reason gf the pressure put on

< ;j‘( ' ,‘% ;.c 4 W‘o‘

me by Sanaye Akashi and Saburo Bing34 From tﬁe time my friend
Sysumu Kurihara was attacked and I believe it was mmdamxblex
siam=n Ry ahyn SoNeEn amsnx
done by someone acting under Bingo's orders I was afraid that

oA 2220

Kuriharase was considered an mmmm in suspected of

I was a marz:;Jzerson because of my frieﬁdz;i with the Humiinams
/4and
having given information that the Dan was responsible for
the attack on him and so I Was constantly in fear of violence
from the leaders, Saburo Bingo , Sanaye Akashi, and Ishisaka
and, Inouye told me I had befiter apply to renounce my citizenship
ifAI wanted to avoid trou ‘and/fkey said that I stood no
chance of being allowed to remain in tle United States and that
it was a cinch that I would be deported to Jépan. Theysaid
many times that I had no choice in the matter and had to
renounce my citizenship. Bingo said that if I didntt I would
be deported anyway and that membmarsxwaninxseexphmigmahknsmginxix
wasxpiagex although I might be placed aboard the ship members
would see that I never arrived in Japan but would be shoved
Sanaye Akashi and Tohara mmhdmmex warned me
overboard.amimphat if that didn't happen to me that I would
be arrested on arrival in Japan and be reported to nhmxfilhomghkh
the Thought Control Pélice or Military Police and would be
sent to prison or a concentration camp and be brutally treated
for being an enemy to Japan‘and for opposing the orders of the
leaders of the Dan and would be placed on the Dan's blacklist.
);é;’fé%lye_ Morodomi also said I better renounce mfi bec:use
if I didn't there wouldnfzbbe i:; chance of my living in
peace and sgfety in the camp and that @him I'd be reported to
the Japanese authorities., hxkmmwmimbeknsnxmeakxmnefumsm

I was too scared of the le_ders to refuse to do as they told

me because I knew these threats would be carried out against me.




hro xfimham Shun o xhyaman
Ardxbkaxizakd xbanxhehdnzeyerax
CE%z//And the Hoshi Dan orderdd all members to attend seweral

meetings at which the leaders said all members must maeammos
smmih they sent their messengers mmmumn

renounce citizenship and mnleympmimpnemInrexXORMESXARGXESND

around to find out if we sent for the forms and put the pressure

on us momskaxnimim constantly a n my wifq"too. I was afraid

not to do it not only‘fL?\my ife é/;ake and my year old daughter

Tokiko. The pressure on me was so great that dxflzaxmdminstxhfm

o0l fd i dme hd e penExa NN g R Mg xe RE b pn E hetn enankmi xamd x

I wanted to get away from the Tule fake Center axtxihblie Xpre Saumsm

and believed that I'd crack up mentally if I didn:t renounce

to preserve my own safety and that of my wife and baby. My

uncle Toshitaro Ide came and told me that I must decide to

renounce and told my'uEéLcshe st also do it and he éaid

that if I didn' t I'd n!!!!iiiiillaued to bm live in peace - ;Jaﬁyg

ggm Md)nhxnx and would be in danger of violence all the time,

aad that I'd probably be deported anyway and I h:d to renounce

or else be mmb the Dan's blacklist and be reported to the

Japanese authorities. Being told so many times I mm had to

renounce and had to sign for renunciation mmm I had to do

it two or three times to prove that I was obeying orders.

/4 didn:t want to do it but there was no way for me to a\oidxiyt
““~é§stndi£;; Tule Lake Center was a mad camp at the time and

acts of violence were being committed all the time and thé

Dan leaders were wry active and powerful and forced their

will on all of us. Tpere just was no way to get out of the

Tule Lake (%nter without renouncing and no way to avoid danger

in the camp without doing it and né way of awiding trouble

for me and my family in Japan unless I did it. dxdkdmhk

I thought for sure I would go crazy unless I decided to

renounce for my own safety and that of my wife and baby.
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mxm@HR X xwas xs g axedwham xf xmen nEn xmymiean kmgnx
C::;gz_,;&ﬂﬁ;z;:’Centervvas filled with threats, rumors and propaganda

by the Dan and the Issei right up to the time of the hearings

and throughout the he:zrings that the (@ters were to be closed

by the WRA and everybody who wasn't going to be repstriated

had to be relocated outside the West Coast wherever the WRA

wanted to send us and that we wouldn't stand a chance of being

allowed to live in peace because of the anti-Jgpanese fimim

feelings of the public and we wouldn't hzm#mlnymnmxhxnxm

be able to get along because of race discrimination and lack

who was pregnant again

ofimd  of funds. My wife/and I were too scared to be sent

outside under the conditions of public hostility and dis-

crimination with a baby daughter,ammxmym@myhfexwaaxpragnantn

agaimx

either t the uppermogt
We didn't want to be separatesd omnto e kgt x e i ch bt e D

v/
fear I haqhwas of harm from the Dan.

4 RS
74’) Jféw& %&%v( % DA @ZQMV
g »/{ O oA

we t to my hearing ﬁahihxlz Ishisaka s

wife was waiting right outside for her hearing,andggie was one
of those who could hear what was going on and I knew that if

I stated anything about the Dan mmdxhkmxmressmme leaders and
the pressure they put on us that she and ethers would report
it to the leaders,aml I knew that if I didn't go through with
my renunciation it would be reported to them and that would
bring violence to me for sure. I was scared so @i when the lédy
hearing officer asked me about renouncing I answered her mihmh
questions that I was a member of the kMam Hoshi Dan, that I
believed the emperor was a god and would rule the world and
that I wished to be sent to Jypan as early as possible so that

I could volunteer for the suicide squad and go rgght into the
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7

ships of the U.S mmm or Epgland. None of those answers were
true mmid except that I was a member of the Sokuji Kikoku Hgyshi
Dan. I never pimmad joined the Hokoku Seinen Dan mm which was

the organization for the younger men and if my name was in it

I was never informed of it and didn't join it. Bingo and
4 At T6
d

others and Aoyama had told me thzt statements

be made to the hearing officers or else our renunciations would
be rejected and that they would find out and anyone who wa
rejected would be marked down m for an inu. I would %
given such answers except for my fears. I knew that the Japanese
emperor was only a human and not a divinity. My family and I

mm are of the Cgtholic fafith and my ancestors have been for over
200 ye:rs. As a child I attended the (atholic Church twice

every Sunday and I missed attendance I was npt permitted to have
supper. I went to catechism for two years and while I was in dmpa
Kuruma in Japan I served as an mimm altar boy for two years.

My catechism teacher told us not to bow our hezds to the
emperor, his picture, or in front of a Shinto Shrine bEmamsmxm
hkmkmwasmidehatm like th e natives did because that was

idolatry so I never did. We were taught and I believed that

. <:%7 the emperor was just a human and not a god and that there
: _ﬁééﬁéhiyrbhé Créator, the God iﬁ the BibiETKéigave those answers

to the leady hecring officer only because I was driven to do

so by my fears of what would happen to me and my family if I

did net give such answers and my renunciation was rejected.

1t was my fe:r for my own safety and that of my wife and baby
that made me answer that I wanted to be sent to Japan as early
as possible so that I could volunteer for the suicide s,uad

and go right into the shipes of the U.S°* or England. I did not
Imxhnmxnth give such an answer beczuse of any disloyalty to the
U.S. but because I aﬁg-bfeﬁa3°%g Zggebgégﬁvgg answer to have

my renunciation accepted fof ke c axflanymafixmymwh @ x

my own safety. I had expected before the outbreak of war and
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for sometime afterward that I would be acéepted by the Draft
Board and be inducted into the Army and if I had been I would
have served faithfully as a soldier but I was rejected by the
Draft Board.

9(C) I was in fear of violence to myself from the time my

Susumu
friend and next daor neighbor Mmm Kurihara was attacked sometime
w I was in fear of violence because
about June 27, 194k, asninmaanmswsina snEhaningnkhsnepin knrs xm

ana I shared his opinions and we were called inu by

%che residents in the block. és'm Hmm leader

became veryactive and organized the Dan groups and put pressure

on all the residents of our block to join and spread rumors

and kept up their agitation and thre:ts to force all of us to

join, FTEEir were numerous acts of violence committed by

some of them on those who wouldn't go along with their program,
fe just became unbezrable in the Center and there was mi

no chance for a person to be left alone by them. Then the Dan

leaders ordered members vo apply to renounce citizenship and

the pressure got worse and worse., Then the WRAm WRA announced

that the Center were going to be closed up and those who

weren't’g to be deported would be forced to lezve the Canter and

be reloczted outside memfmedgm in new comminities without a home,

or funds and /pould have to face public hostility and discrimina-

tion., My wife and I didntt wish to be separated. We had one baby

and my wife was pregnant again. We didnft dare to “hmcof—teing

- '\n -
re—Center—if=the=WRimmuhzd X1 am o xnamns
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face being sent outside to face such adverse conditions in our

situation. I didn't dare go against the Diﬁ;;éder's orders about

renouncing either for fear that 1I'd be made victim of their
nxnxeroEg xMymwh £exarod xib xwensnd s SpEr A hEm xmn

violence. If Ivas to be deported it me:znt that I'd be facing
trouble for myself and my family in Japan unless I renounced

bec use the Dan would have me on its blacklist to be reported to
the Japanese authorities. My wife and I were just desperate

with fear and during tAis time the Dan's pressure was the
gxnzﬁnntﬁxmxdxﬂnmxmgmkmamxmxmxnxmnmxmnmdmxnnmnmxmngxmxmﬁmkﬂxﬁx
greates%a There just wasn't any way to avoid these fears

except by going insane or by renouncing. During that time Szburo
Bingo, Sanae Akashi, Ishisaka and Mg Hajime Morodomi kept
mahzhkm a watch on me to ;az that I went through with it too..

A pollnle AWM@/
And my uncle pleadéz;muaji-ne to doﬂz:'lt for my g;n safet;vgn

ok xS af Enymafxmymwh e xamd x
the s ecurity of my family,
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"As the result of my rdnunciation and for being in the

Sokuji Kikoku Hosh Dan I was sent away to the Alien Internment
,,) on March 5, 1945,
Gmp at Santa Fé}g was forced to make a request nfmghemitkmxm

to the Attorney General for approval of my renunciation. I was

told that I had to do this by Mr, Kobayashi who was the father in

law of Tachibana and by the #m Yamane who was the friend of

Shishido and by one of the Ygmane brothers., I knew that if i

I didn't that Saburo Bingo and the other leaders would treat

me as an inu, Mhﬁsmnaxmdmnnxh; That request was made under

pressure and fear by me and it was madd before a pmmmom

group of 25 or 26 of us in that camp got together and decided

that we could protest the activities of the Dan leaders and '

their principles and we did so to Shishido and Tachibana. Uptil

then I was just too afraid to say or do anything to bring

trouble on myself byt oury group. thought we cxmid xuimmin

PEOERIH XX cqgldlprgtest_and that other would follow our example

but it didn't work out that way because the mxngnx majority

ofvlnternees pmmi threateded mmuxbxmumih us as inus and put

preé;ﬁre on us Jn&“kept us under watch aiiwthe tlme. Belng told ke

by Saburo Bingo in this camp that I had been next on the Dan's

list at the Tule Lake Center to be attacked and that I would have
-~ been too except fimm that my brother Toshiwo had told him that

. 1 didn't know who had attacked Sysumu Kurihara and didn't know

who was responsible for the attackrop himrand that I couldn't

have t&idvthe auﬁhbr&ties anything about mbp it I knew that

15 X didnft make the requéstrfor‘;pprovalrof my renunciation

hxoemXdxgeEnxbie xaamemmxmImauhodngeEmngheam 0
I would be attacked as an mmmm inu on the order of the tzmdm

B0 b MR T (5 USRI R e ¥ 13

Shottly after that a group of 25 or 26 of us protestad

the activ1tlps and prlnclples of the Ihn to Shishido  and

Tachibana. After that I was watched and followed by members

wa the group until most of them
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were sent to Jépan. I, the meantime the money order I was

going to send to my wife in the Tule Lgke Clenter was stolen

and also letters I received from my wife and I got more

fréghtened than ever as mikaxMamx I was sure the Dan was spying

on me and I wanted to get out mimghzm of the Camp at Santa
obtained L
Yo and be reunited with my wife and had mmdm an application tm
-im  form I was to make out for family reunion but it too was mim
stolen and  so I believed I mm was in imminent danger because _
hxhEhxayadmandmsinithImien khemam x
hmEnLoxmx

Inkaxkiam xwenid xbehie e xkaknXnwasm

the Dan would know that I was trying to get away from the Santa
¥e Camp. After these incidents I was under constant femEmefix

fear of reprisal until the group repatriated to damamxmkhimdmximm
pmgnperimdx . Japan near the end of November of 1945. All during
“this period I was treated as an inu and outcast and was mm

; afraid of being appacked.

fats ~ b i - C 5 - i ,,,; ﬁz e
6%?2i> After the group had been sent to Jap %AI asked that my
repatriation request be cancelled and as soon as I learned
ﬁxmumkhnmininxﬂxknmﬁnn?nnx

from Mr. Collins that mm could mamzeim write to the Attorney
General and ask for a cancellation of my renunciztion I did =mm.

so in the early pant of 1946,
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| 5 September 1946
Hon, Thomas N, Cooley, II
Director, Alien Enemy Control Unit
Department of Justice
Washington, D, C. \ i
Re: Harry Masatsu)l Ide

Qelb3eBal

Box 788 i

Crystal City, Texas

Dear 3ir:

I hereby submit my request for your reconsideration
. in the case of the renunciant named above. &
/ :

T ' Four years prior to his evacuation, Mr, Ide was in
my employ as & gardner at my residence here in Walnut Creek,
California. His work and service rendered in my behalf
were always most satisfactory. :

To the best of my knowledge and bellef, Mr, Ide
was always a man of high integrity and of excellent character.
From my asSoclation with him I never observed any dlsloyal
intentions in him, Never @id I infer from talking with him
the glightest implication of anti-American resolve on his

pars. :

I 4o believe Mr, Ide's resolution, now past, renounce
ing hia U, 5., Citizenship, was made by him after submitting
to severe pressure of enemy groups at the Tule Lake Center,
Buch an act on his part was done as a2 vain attempt to gofe-
guard the lives of hig mother and sisters in Japan, ;

Today Mr, Ide's wife and two daughters, all American
Citlzens in good standing, are living in Stockton, California,
apart from husband and father under conditions of hardship,
Reconsideration of his case would certainly alleviate this
regrettable condition.,

Very truly yours,

\

C. ¥, HENDRICK

CFH/tL




